STANDARD REGISTER CO Form 10-K March 04, 2011

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended January 2, 2011

OR

[] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES

EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from ______ to _____

Commission file number 0-01097

THE STANDARD REGISTER COMPANY

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

OHIO 31-0455440

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

600 ALBANY STREET, DAYTON OHIO

45417

(Address of principal executive offices)

(Zip code)

(937) 221-1000

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) OF THE ACT

Common stock \$1.00 par value

New York Stock Exchange

Title of each class

Name of each exchange

on which registered

SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(g) OF THE ACT

None

Indicate by	y check mark	if the Regi	strant is a	well-known	seasoned issuer,	as defined	in Rule	405 o	f the	Securities .	Act.

Yes[] No[X]

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes[] No[X]

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes [X] No[]

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [X]

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definition of accelerated filer, large accelerated filer, and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer []

Accelerated filer []

Non-accelerated filer [] (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Smaller reporting company [X]

Indicate by checkmark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes [] No [X]

The aggregate market value of all stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant at July 4, 2010 was approximately \$37,657,000 based on a closing sales price of \$2.90 per share on July 4, 2010.

At January 31, 2011, the number of shares outstanding of the issuer s classes of common stock is as follows:

Common stock, \$1.00 par value

24,233,638 shares

Class A stock, \$1.00 par value

4,725,000 shares

Part III incorporates information by reference from the Proxy Statement for Registrant s Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 28, 2011.

THE STANDARD REGISTER COMPANY

FORM 10-K

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Item	Description
Page	
Item 1.	Business
1	
Item 2.	Properties
11	
Item 3.	Legal Proceedings
11	
Item 5.	Market for the Registrant's Common Stock, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchase of Equity Securities
11	
Item 6.	Selected Financial Data
12	
Item 7.	Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
13	
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
37	
Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
68	
Item 9A.	Controls and Procedures
68	
Item 9B.	Other Information

68	
Item 10.	Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance
69	
Item 11.	Executive Compensation
69	
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
69	
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
69	
Item 14.	Fees and Services of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
69	
Item 15.	Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
70	
Signatures	
71	
Index to Exhi	bits
72	

PART I

Item 1 BUSINESS

COMPANY OVERVIEW

The Standard Register Company (referred to in this report as the Company, we, us, our, or Standard Register) is publicly-traded company that began operations in 1912 in Dayton, Ohio. Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol SR. Our principal executive offices are located at 600 Albany Street, Dayton, Ohio 45417 (telephone number: 937-221-1000).

Standard Register is a recognized leader in the healthcare, industrial, financial services, and commercial business markets. We use nearly a century of industry expertise, Lean Six Sigma methodologies, and leading technologies to help companies manage the critical documents and processes they need to effectively run their operations, improve the way they communicate with and serve their customers, employees, and stakeholders, and ultimately thrive in today s competitive climate. Leveraging our technology development, sourcing expertise, and manufacturing, we create innovative solutions for our clients—incorporating everything from consulting and technology to printing and distribution services. We believe our success depends on our ability to build strategic relationships with our clients through an intense focus on their business needs and continued development of a solutions-driven portfolio of products and services.

OUR SEGMENTS

We operate the following three business units, which are organized based upon their customer base and the primary markets they serve: Healthcare, Commercial, and Industrial. Each of these business units represents an operating segment except for Commercial which is comprised of two operating segments: Financial Services and Commercial Markets (formerly Emerging). Each of our operating segments represents a reportable segment.

You can read additional information related to revenues and operating profit for each reportable segment for years 2008 through 2010 in Note 17 Segment Reporting in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Healthcare

Our Healthcare segment accounted for 37.6%, 38.3%, and 36.0% of our consolidated revenues in 2010, 2009, and 2008. This segment serves the needs of the healthcare market, which is comprised of the following:

Acute Care Providers	Primarily hospitals and integrated delivery networks (IDNs) defined as groups of healthcare providers
Ambulatory Care Providers	Other organizations providing healthcare such as physicians, long-term care, and outpatient surgery centers
Payors and Managed Care	Organizations that provide some portion of payment for healthcare services such as Humana, Medicare, and HMO s sometimes referred to as the insurance sector
Facilitators of Ancillary Services	Providers of ancillary healthcare services that are prescribed by providers or other non-clinical services that directly interact with patients such as pharmacies, laboratories, and clinical staffing

Our primary focus is on acute care providers where we serve 64% of U.S. hospitals. However, we also serve ambulatory care providers, payors and managed care, and facilitators of ancillary services.

We estimate the size of the market opportunity for the Healthcare segment is approximately \$2.4 billion, comprised of information management solutions, patient identification and safety products and solutions, and patient communication solutions. Information management solutions include paper forms and other documents, prescriptions, and electronic forms solutions. Given the range of products and services within the Healthcare segment, we determine total market opportunity and our market share for individual products and services and then aggregate them to determine our overall market share.

Non-federal, Acute Care facilities with 100-plus beds represent a significant opportunity for the Healthcare segment. To determine the market opportunity for information management solutions and patient communication solutions, we analyzed customer spending and industry data. We estimate the market opportunity for paper forms and documents is \$1.2 billion, and we estimate our share is approximately 15%. For patient communications, we estimate the market opportunity is \$0.7 billion and our market share is approximately 8%. Based on Healthcare Information Management Systems Society (HIMSS) Analytics data, we estimate the total market opportunity for electronic forms solutions is \$0.4 billion and estimate that our market share is approximately 2%. In addition, HIMSS estimates that over 40% of the market has no electronic forms solutions in use yet.

We estimated the total market for wristbands to be \$0.1 billion based upon the average number of hospital admissions and our own internal analysis of the average number of wristbands per admission. Our share of this market is approximately 12%. Overall, for all solutions, we estimate our market share is approximately 10%.

Products and Services We are committed to making a measurable difference in our customers business and clinical outcomes. Customers within the healthcare market seek products and services that improve patient care, reduce costs, create efficient processes, and manage regulatory and industry requirements and risks. A description of our solutions supporting these needs follows:

Administrative and Clinical Forms

Administrative and clinical forms are the core of our traditional document management offering, from which we derive approximately half of the Healthcare segment s revenues. They include an array of forms and documents for managing patient admissions, tests, treatments and discharge, as well as design and distribution services to help hospitals standardize documents, streamline workflow, reduce costs, improve regulatory compliance, and prepare for migration to electronic medical records.

Wristbands & Labels

Wristbands and labels are essential to patient identification and safety. Our technology gives hospitals the ability to generate labels, wristbands and documentation with barcodes, patient photos and data which help assure the right tests, treatments, and medications are matched with the right patient.

Marketing Solutions

We offer print and distribution services for marketing materials. These marketing materials primarily consist of brochures, newsletters, direct mail, and other collateral hospitals use to promote their services. We bring together components of print, composition, and digital asset and content management technologies to streamline the process of producing and managing marketing communications. Built on our SMARTworks® technology platform, our web-based solutions offer companies decentralized content management with centralized brand control and the ability to create one-to-one personalized communications.

Secure Prescriptions

Secure Prescriptions are produced in secure pads, laser sheets and rolls of thermal paper to enable healthcare providers to produce prescriptions on their printers. We are a recognized leader in document security and an authority on prescription fraud. We utilize our proprietary inks, substrates, and patented design features to create prescriptions that deter fraud.

Patient Communications

Patient Communications consist of patient billing statements, explanation of benefits, healthcare plan enrollment kits, and related notifications. We also print patient educational materials about medical conditions, tests and treatments, as well as staff training materials and references.

Patient Information Solutions

Patient Information Solutions include software applications, such as SMARTworks Clinical Enterprise, and professional services to help hospitals migrate from their paper clinical documents to electronic medical records. Our platform integrates with the major health information systems currently in use by hospitals.

Market Trends With an increasing number of patients due to population growth and aging, the focus on patient safety, particularly patient identification, bar coding, and bedside point of care, is intensifying. The Joint Commission has issued its 2011 patient safety goals which include: improving patient identification, enhancing the effectiveness of communications among caregivers, and accurately and completely reconciling medications across the continuum of care. We anticipate this focus will create increased demand for patient identification products and services, patient information solutions, as well as patient communication and marketing solutions.

The healthcare market continues to move to electronic medical records (EMR), using fewer traditional paper documents for managing patient information and administrative functions. With enactment of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA), we estimate the use of paper documents will continue to decline at an annual rate of approximately 15 percent. The ARRA provides financial incentives through the Medicare program to encourage physicians and hospitals to adopt and use certified electronic medical records in a meaningful way. Incentives for early adopters began in 2010 and extend to 2014, with a 1% penalty incurred by non-adopters beginning in 2015. The federal government has begun defining meaningful use milestones for 2011, 2013, and 2015 and identifying investments that are eligible to receive incentive payments during each of those years. As understanding of these complex rules builds, we anticipate hospitals will move forward with their EMR investment plans. We anticipate paper documents will remain into the foreseeable future, even at the highest stages of EMR adoption. Therefore, this trend may create additional opportunities for our print-on-demand services, software solutions, and value-added services that help hospitals organize, manage and migrate to an electronic state.

Declining reimbursements, an increasing population of uninsured patients, and tough economic conditions are placing financial pressures on hospitals and creating increased demand for solutions that reduce cost. At the same time, hospitals are in an increasingly competitive environment and are seeking to attract and retain both staff and patients, creating more opportunities for marketing solutions.

Competition Our Healthcare segment has a dedicated marketing organization that provides marketing strategy, product development and support, as well as a long history of healthcare experience in process improvement. In addition, we are the only document management company that has contractual agreements with all six of the major Group Purchasing Organizations (GPOs). In 2010, MedAssets acquired The Broadlane Group, reducing the field of major GPOs to five. GPOs are large influential service companies that help healthcare providers realize savings and efficiencies by aggregating purchasing volume and using that leverage to negotiate discounts with manufacturers, distributors and other vendors. Our contractual agreements with the GPOs provide us a competitive advantage with the majority of hospitals and IDNs.

Our principal competitors for forms and printed training and marketing materials are R.R. Donnelley and Sons and WorkflowOne, which are national competitors. In addition, there are regional direct selling competitors and distributors who source their products from manufacturers of the trade. Excess production capacity and price competition are prevalent with some printed forms and documents. The introduction of alternative technologies has reduced industry demand for traditional custom-printed business documents, while a very competitive market has led to price competition. The service and technology we provide enable us to compete effectively, even with forms where there is greater price sensitivity. We believe our unique focus on healthcare enables us to have a deep understanding of our customer s document processes and needs. We believe this knowledge, combined with our range of products, technology, and services, offers strategic advantages.

We are a leading provider of secure prescriptions to hospitals, though business is highly fragmented with many small, specialized regional printers competing for business. Our security expertise and reputation are strategic differentiators that hospitals value as prescription abuse and government oversight increases. However, the market continues to decline as e-prescribing increases.

Principal competitors for wristbands and labels include Precision Dynamics Corporation and LaserBand. Wristbands and labels are primarily dominated by suppliers with limited offerings and no supporting technology, though technology will become increasingly important as hospitals move to electronic medical records.

Principal competitors for technology solutions are FormFast, Bottomline Technologies, and Access. Service is an important component in competing in this sector. We believe our extensive experience in healthcare and workflow solutions and the assistance we provide in organizing, managing, and migrating clinical and business forms

differentiate us from our competitors.

Financial Services

Our Financial Services segment accounted for 26.3%, 27.8%, and 28.4% of our consolidated revenues in 2010, 2009, and 2008. This segment serves the needs of the financial services market, which consists primarily of retail banks, insurance carriers, credit agencies, security dealers, insurance agents or brokers, and holding companies. We focus on major retail banks and large insurance carriers, targeting the top 450 large and mid-market retail banks and the 300 largest insurance carriers. Currently, three customers account for approximately 54% of this segment s revenue.

The 750 banking and insurance companies that we target have an estimated \$2.4 billion in printing and related services spend. We determined the total market by calculating the average print spend of our major customers per asset dollar, transaction, and domestic office and applied this average to public information available for other peer companies within the 750 companies we target. We estimate our market share is less than 5%.

Products and Services The financial services market relies on many document-intensive processes to effectively run their operations, improve the way they communicate with their customers and employees, and manage risks. Service providers within this market are intensely focused on customer retention, cost management, revenue growth, managing security and regulatory compliance, and creating operational efficiencies. We offer the following solutions to support these needs:

Specialized Print Solutions

We are an industry leader in document security, utilizing specialized inks, secure papers, unique constructions, and other proprietary security features to defeat attempts to create fraudulent copies or alterations. Specialized print solutions account for more than half of Financial Services revenue and include the following: traditional business forms such as checks, application forms, deposit slips, and teller receipts. Also included are official items for banks such as cashier s checks, money orders, and certified checks.

We enable our customers to reduce inventory and distribution costs associated with pre-printed documents and eliminate obsolete content through our national network of production locations and certified suppliers.

Marketing Solutions

We produce and manage the logistics and delivery of branded materials, including business cards and stationery, envelopes, brochures, signage, flyers, and post cards. In addition, we purchase commercial print as a service to our customers, utilizing expertise of our PrintConcierge® group and software that facilitates bidding and order management among a nationwide network of third-party commercial printers.

Built on our SMARTworks technology platform, our web-based solutions offer companies decentralized content management with centralized brand control and the ability to create one-to-one personalized communications. We ensure that marketing materials are current and consistent across all media and enable shortened cycle times for delivery.

Customer Communication Solutions

For most of our communications, we utilize digital technology to enable customers to vary the data printed on each page or create fully personalized kits of information. We produce transaction documents, customer notices, membership and enrollment documents, and variable communications. We offer flexibility in document output options, from print and mail, to e-mail, fax, or online presentment. In addition to traditional printed documents, we also offer a double-sided postcard, which significantly reduces postage costs by allowing institutions to mail at postcard rates versus letter rates.

Digital Print Solutions

Digital print solutions include on-demand printing with digital color and wide-format capabilities and distribution services. We provide the flexibility for organizations to print and distribute via our national network of digital print centers, ensuring that materials ordered can be produced close to the end delivery point. Our SMARTworks technology platform provides a central point of access from which an entire organization can quickly order printed materials. These solutions enable customers to reduce inventory and distribution costs associated with preprinted documents, eliminate obsolete content, and create highly personalized printed materials.

Market Trends Economic uncertainty and the recent crisis in the financial markets are sharpening retail banks focus on preserving capital and competing for deposits. Banks and insurance providers are also experiencing increased

competitive pressures from ongoing consolidations and nontraditional competitors such as internet-only providers. In addition, the industry continues to be impacted by advances in digital technologies and the trend in customer preferences to conduct business transactions at ATMs or on the internet. As financial service providers assess their portfolios, they are focusing on customer retention and making significant moves to reposition their offerings in the market. The combination of these trends continues to create price pressures and reduced demand for traditional printed documents. However, as these providers continue to seek more relative customer-specific marketing materials, demand for commercial and digital print is expected to increase.

As a result of economic uncertainties, financial service providers are also focused on cost management and operational efficiencies in their branch and call center operations and back office processing centers. This trend may create additional opportunities for workflow and technology solutions and the efficiencies and cost-saving benefits they provide. Additionally, banks may explore potential benefits of outsourcing non-core operations, such as printed communications. This trend may create additional opportunities for marketing solutions.

In response to expanding regulatory requirements adopted to address corporate scandals, fraud, accounting irregularities, and privacy rights, financial services providers are placing renewed emphasis on the need to maintain the confidentiality of customer data, thereby increasing demand for suppliers with secure controls and safeguards in place to host or process personal data when outsourcing a critical business process. We are positioned to provide a full range of innovative products to respond to these needs by utilizing our history of expertise in specialized inks, secure paper, proprietary document security features, secure printing software, bar codes, and data encryption.

Competition We have a market-focused approach to solutions development, expertise in security products, and a long history of working with financial service providers. Combined with our national footprint of sales and production capabilities, we believe these factors create competitive advantages for us.

Our major competitors include national companies such as R.R. Donnelley and Sons, WorkflowOne, and Williams Lea. As a result of consolidations within the market and an oversupply of traditional printed documents, pricing is very competitive which provides advantages to larger providers. However, since many of our competitors do not offer complete document solutions, we compete effectively on price by offering end-to-end solutions which create efficiencies in document processes and eliminate costs associated with maintaining multiple vendor relationships. In addition, while many of our competitors offer similar products, most do not have a strategic focus on the financial services market. Emerging competitors include marketing technology providers that provide solutions similar in nature to our SMARTworks platform and specialized marketing solutions providers. We believe our strategic focus on the financial services market will enable us to be leaders in the development of innovative solutions specific to this market.

Commercial Markets

Our Commercial Markets segment accounted for 24.8%, 24.5%, and 25.5% of our consolidated revenues in 2010, 2009, and 2008. This segment serves the business-to-business or commercial market, which primarily includes retailers, business service providers, wholesalers, transportation services, technology and communication providers, non-industrial manufacturers, and government. Currently, our primary customers are large diverse retailers, state governments, overnight delivery carriers, business service providers, and wholesale companies.

Products and Services Customers within the commercial market generally operate high transaction businesses, have a national footprint of service locations, and require specialized printing needs in core processes to run their operations and communicate with customers, employees, and stakeholders. We support this market by providing the following solutions designed to increase organizational efficiencies, decrease costs, mitigate fraud risks, and increase revenue growth potential.

Specialized Print Solutions

Specialized print solutions combine print and distribution services for the following: traditional business forms, secure documents, labels, and pressure sensitive decals.

Marketing Solutions

We produce and manage the logistics and delivery of branded materials, including business cards and stationery, envelopes, brochures, signage, flyers, and post cards. In addition, we purchase commercial print as a service to our customers, utilizing expertise of our PrintConcierge® group and software that facilitates bidding and order management among a nationwide network of third-party commercial printers.

Built on our SMARTworks technology platform, our web-based solutions offer companies decentralized content management with centralized brand control and the ability to create one-to-one personalized communications. We ensure that marketing materials are current and consistent across all media and enable shortened cycle times for delivery.

Customer Communication Solutions

We provide sophisticated digital print and mail services to enable our customers to communicate more effectively with their constituents. We utilize digital technology to enable customers to vary the data printed on each page or create fully personalized kits of information. We produce transaction documents, customer notices and other variable communications. We offer flexibility in document output options, from print and mail, to e-mail, fax, or online presentment. In addition to traditional printed documents, we also offer a double-sided postcard.

Digital Print Solutions

Digital print solutions include on-demand printing with digital color and wide-format capabilities and distribution services. These solutions enable customers to reduce inventory and distribution costs associated with preprinted documents, eliminate obsolete content, and create highly personalized printed materials.

Market Trends The introduction of alternative technologies has reduced industry demand for traditional custom printed documents, while a very competitive and oversupplied market has led to price competition. The combination of improved digital printing devices and more sophisticated workflow software is transforming an industry once dominated by long-run offset production to one characterized by shorter, digitally-printed runs. As a result, investments in digital color management and production technologies will be vital to maintaining a competitive product portfolio within the industry.

Weak economic conditions and high unemployment rates continue to have a negative impact on our customers. Reduced demand has resulted in consolidations and divestitures as a means to control costs and create efficiencies. For many of our customers, especially our business services customers, revenues are driven by transactional volume which many times directly relates to unemployment rates. Although we have seen signs of improvement in general economic conditions, unemployment rates remain high and typically lag behind other indicators.

Economic uncertainty, driven by the recent financial crisis, has also created global volatility and consumer anxiety in the retail markets. As a result, consumers are narrowing their purchases to necessities, affecting retailer demand as well as wholesale demand. Discretionary spending remains under pressure, so retailers are responding with enhanced value propositions. Additionally, in-store marketing is on the rise, which we expect to result in declines in the amount of traditional advertising. Retailers are also investing in their websites to set them apart from their competition. These trends may create additional opportunities in marketing and communication solutions.

We are seeing a transformation currently underway throughout government with a trend toward more outsourcing and updating of technology. According to the Department of Labor statistics, the U.S. government is the largest consumer of print, with nearly 57% spent on documents and services that we have the capability to produce or source. We expect heavy reliance on our core printed documents to remain intact. Issues surrounding national security, immigration reform, and identity protection all create opportunity for us to leverage our intellectual property in the document security space.

The number of organizations outsourcing their document management programs is projected to double over the next two years to nearly 30 percent. Customers are migrating to fewer suppliers and more strategic relationships creating opportunities for the providers who can provide a complete portfolio of solutions.

Competition Our principal competitors include R. R. Donnelley and Sons, WorkflowOne, regional printers, and print distributors. Highly focused application specialists continue to evolve in the market. In addition, many local and regional printers have quick turnarounds and may be preferred by marketing departments because they can maintain better control over timing and output. These factors contribute to a highly competitive environment for most of our product offerings.

Pricing is also eroding in product lines that are being commoditized, and a new class of super brokers is leveraging over capacity in the market to drive prices downward. As a result, there is significant price competition in traditional print products.

We are responding to these competitive threats by focusing our go-to-market strategy on very specific markets where we have the ability to drive innovation and value based on our manufacturing, sourcing, and national distribution footprint. We are experts at solving the needs of our customers through creative problem solving and strategic partnering. We expect to continue investing in digital technologies and capabilities to enable us to maintain a portfolio of solutions that continues to make us relevant to customers.

Industrial

Our Industrial segment accounted for 11.3%, 9.4%, and 10.1% of our consolidated revenues in 2010, 2009, and 2008. This segment provides printed production parts, specialized print, and in-mold labels to the industrial manufacturing market and operates under the trademark Industramark®. Printed production parts are all of the labels and technical literature which go on a manufactured product or are shipped with a product.

There are over 280,000 manufacturing companies in the U.S. producing millions of different products. All of these companies can be divided into 20 major categories of products, also known as the Standard Industry Classification (SIC) codes. Industries offering the best fit for our Industrial segment include those with SIC codes of 23-26 and 28-39. These industries range from apparel, wood, and furniture products to rubber, plastic, and metal products and industrial machinery and equipment. We focus on companies that produce hard goods with multiple manufacturing facilities, particularly companies that have a centralized sourcing model and value technical expertise and high levels of service.

We are the market leader in printed production parts for key industry segments such as HVAC, electrical, and appliance and consumer durables, and the supplier of choice for multi-site manufacturers. The size of the market opportunity in North America is estimated to be \$5.6 billion based upon U. S. Census data for total shipments of manufactured durable goods, and we believe our current market share is approximately 1.4%. We determine market share by comparing our revenues against the U. S. Census Bureau s durable goods shipment dollars multiplied by a factor of 0.0024. The 0.0024 factor represents the estimated value of our products and services as a percentage of overall durable goods shipments, based on an analysis of our key customers total print spend. Estimates of total customer print spend are difficult to determine; therefore, our actual market share could be different.

Products and Services The manufacturing environment is characterized by large numbers of stock keeping units (SKUs), high obsolescence, little coordination between facilities, and many time-consuming processes. Additionally, manufacturers place heavy emphasis on consumer safety and compliance. These factors create unique needs related to printed production parts. We assist manufacturers with compliance standards, simplify their processes, and manage changes within their operations by offering the following products and services:

Labels

<u>Functional labels</u> Functional labels are placed on the product to instruct or warn the purchaser, operator, or installer of the product. They may include decorative elements, such as company logos, but their primary purpose is to provide information. Examples of functional labels include American National Standards Institute-compliant warning labels, UL listing labels, operating instruction labels, nameplates and serial number labels.

<u>Decorative Labels</u> Decorative labels are placed on a product to decorate or to identify the manufacturer and model number of the product. Examples of decorative labels include manufacturer logos, model numbers or names, decorative trim such as pin-striping, simulated wood grain, or other decorative elements.

<u>In-Mold Labeling and Decorating</u> For functional and decorative labels on plastic and rubber manufactured parts and products, in-mold labeling and decorating provides for a permanent, durable and flexible labeling solution. Through patented Grafilm[®] technology, in-mold labeling and decorating allows manufacturers to enhance the appearance of their products by expanding available decoration space, even on curved, contoured or textured parts. In-mold labels bond with the molded part and are permanent and non-removable, providing manufacturers with safety labeling, branding and decoration that lasts the life of the product.

Marketing Solutions

Marketing solutions include printed brochures and product literature provided to dealers and potential end users of industrial products.

Specialized Print Solutions

Specialized print consists primarily of technical literature. Technical literature is usually shipped with a product and is used to instruct the purchaser, installer, or operator in the proper use and care of the product.

Market Trends Multiple compliance and legal requirements, a focus on consumer safety, and increased interest in enhancing the marketing potential related to industrial products is driving an increase in consumer and industrial end-use applications for labels. Combined with an expected increase in the number of industrial products produced as the population grows, the market for functional labels, decorative labels, and technical literature in North America is

projected to exhibit steady growth in the long term.

In the short term, the manufacturing sector of the U.S. economy is steadily recovering from the recent recession and is expected to continue its upward momentum. According to the Institute for Supply Management, which publishes the Purchasing Managers Index (PMI), production has increased 11% from June 2009, and they predict a 4% increase in growth in 2011. Strong U.S. manufacturing performance coupled with growth in Asian manufacturing has put upward pressure on commodity prices that are being reflected in rising U.S. producer prices.

Technologies such as bar code, radio frequency identification, internet-based commerce, digital presses, and environmentally-friendly adhesives and inks continue to advance. Customers will seek products utilizing these technologies as costs related to their application decline to acceptable levels, requiring providers to continue to make selective investments to remain competitive. In-mold labeling is underpenetrated in durable goods in the U.S. Acceptance is growing, and the use of robotics dedicated to in-mold labeling is accelerating this market growth.

Competition The Industrial segment has a dedicated marketing team that provides product development and support, strategic marketing, alliance development, and marketing communications. We are the only printed parts supplier in the industrial market with all of the following capabilities:

•

National distribution footprint that supersedes local and regional competitors

•

National sales team that enables internal compliance and control for large, multi-site customers

•

Focus on process improvements and cost out programs for customers

•

Production and distribution facilities in both the U.S. and Mexico, providing the same level of support to all our customers operations, no matter where they are located.

Additionally, we offer the industry s only comprehensive national program for design, sourcing and inventory management of printed production parts. Our customer service team is made up of specialists who fully understand the needs of industrial manufacturers. They understand the form, fit and function of printed production parts, as well as the importance of these parts to the manufacturer s products. Our professional design team has the ability to work across multiple platforms, including computer-aided design (CAD)-based systems. We offer full graphic capabilities and electronic cataloging for reorders, ensuring uniformity of all parts. Our professionals are fully conversant with current compliance requirements. With competency in more than 30 languages, we also support the global needs of industrial manufacturers, communicating vital information, such as that found on hazard warning labels, product identification labels, wiring diagrams, and other labels.

The market is dominated by local and regional competitors, with no other competitor owning more than 5 percent of the market. Our principal competitors include R. R. Donnelley and Sons and Avery Dennison. In addition, we compete against local and regional manufacturers and distributors. We compete by offering extensive expertise in industrial label applications, a national footprint, and a complete printed production parts solution. However, the market is extremely competitive, and suppliers offering favorable pricing effectively compete with our offerings.

WAREHOUSING AND DISTRIBUTION

Many of our custom-printed documents are warehoused for subsequent delivery to our customers in the quantity, time, and place of their choosing. We provide a network of distribution centers across the country which allows us to service customers with multiple locations. Inventory control, reporting, and reorder are provided in a module of our proprietary SMARTworks document management system that resides on the customer s desktop. Revenue derived from these services is attributed to all of our segments based upon the customer and market being served.

SALES CHANNELS

Each of our primary markets has devoted sales channels specific to the market. These channels are primarily organized based upon a combination of their sales objective, market segmentation, and account segmentation as follows:

•

Geographically-based direct sales forces that focus on the retention, expansion and acquisition of middle market to larger accounts

•

Inside-sales and telesales channels that focus on the retention and expansion of supplies and specialized product offerings to smaller accounts or remote geographies where our direct sales force cannot be cost effective

•

Business development groups that focus on the acquisition of new business

•

A specialized technology sales group that focus on the acquisition of new technology business and supports direct sales teams in selling software and systems integration

•

E-commerce websites for selling commonly used items and supporting smaller customers where our direct sales forces cannot be cost effective

•

A group of associates responsible for developing and maintaining relationships to distribute legacy and core products through external channels.

OUR RAW MATERIALS

We purchase raw paper in a wide variety of weights, grades, and colors from various paper mills in the U.S. and Canada. Carbonless paper, inks, and printing supplies are available nationally and are purchased from leading vendors. We continuously ensure that we have adequate supplies to meet present and future sales objectives. We generally order from suppliers with whom we have long-standing relationships.

OUR RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

During 2010, we spent \$4.9 million on research and development compared with \$5.2 million and \$4.9 million in 2009 and 2008. Research and development is primarily focused on two areas: the design and development of new products, services, software and technologies, and process improvement activities. The design and development of new products and technologies also includes equipment design and development used in production, as well as the integration of new technologies available in the marketplace.

OUR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We have many trademarks and patents related to documents, equipment, systems, labels, and security products that provide a competitive advantage or generate license income. None of these, individually, have a material effect upon the business.

SEASONALITY

No material portion of our business could be considered seasonal. However, historically, we generate slightly lower revenues in the third quarter than in other quarters of the year.

GOVERNMENTAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

We have no significant exposure with regard to the renegotiation or termination of government contracts. Any expenditure made to comply with federal, state, or local provisions of environmental protection has not had a material effect upon our capital expenditures, earnings, or competitive position.

The Company has participated with other Potentially Responsible Parties (PRPs) in the investigation, study, and remediation of the Pasco Sanitary Landfill Superfund Site (the Pasco Site) in eastern Washington State since 1998. As of January 3, 2010, the Company was a member of a PRP Group known as the Industrial Waste Area Generators Group II (the IWAG Group). In 2000, the IWAG Group and several other PRP groups entered into agreed orders with the Department of Ecology for implementation of interim remedial actions and expansion of groundwater monitoring. In September 2010, the group entered into a new agreement creating the IWAG Group III. The new agreement changed the allocation of responsibility among the members, which resulted in a significant decrease in our level of participation. Based upon new investigations, it was also deemed probable that participation by certain other PRPs would increase for costs expected to be incurred after 2010. These developments resulted in a decrease of approximately \$1.3 million in the estimate of our costs related to the remediation of the site. At this time, an agreement has not yet been reached on the final remediation approach. We have accrued our best estimate of our obligation and have an undiscounted liability of \$1.1 million that we currently believe is adequate to cover our portion of the total future potential costs of remediation. We expect the costs to be incurred over a period of 60 years; however, the current proposed remediation approach could require monitoring for a longer period of time. This estimate is contingent upon the final remedy agreed upon, the participation of other PRPs, the length of monitoring required, and the final agreed upon allocation. Until a final remediation approach is approved and a final agreement is reached among all PRPs, it is reasonably possible that one or more of these factors could change our estimate; however, we are unable to determine the impact at this time.

From 1995 through 2003, the Company participated with other PRPs in the investigation, study, and remediation of the Valleycrest Landfill Site (the Valleycrest Site) in western Ohio. The Company is a member of a PRP Group known as the Valleycrest Landfill Site Group (the VLSG). In 2003, General Motors Corporation (GM) stepped into the Company s position under the Site Participation Agreement and in return for \$0.3 million, agreed to indemnify the Company against certain future liability in connection with the Valleycrest Landfill Site. Therefore, we did not previously record a liability for potential remediation costs. In 2009, we were notified that in connection with GM s bankruptcy filing, GM does not plan to continue contributions to the site, including its contractual obligation to

indemnify the Company for future liability. We believe that it is probable the Company will participate in remediation actions. A remedial investigation and feasibility study was conducted by the VLSG which indicated a range of viable remedial approaches. During 2010, we obtained an updated estimate of costs for possible final remedies. At this early stage, a final remediation approach has not been selected, and we have accrued the estimate of our obligation based on the most likely approach. In addition, we have also determined that GM will likely not be required to fund their originally allocated portion of the environmental costs. However, we believe it is probable that we will be able to recover a portion of these costs through bankruptcy settlements. As a result of these developments, our estimate of costs increased approximately \$0.5 million. We have an undiscounted long-term liability of \$2.4 million that we currently believe is adequate to cover our portion of the total future potential costs of remediation, which are expected to be incurred over a period of 30 years. This estimate is contingent upon the final remedy agreed upon, the participation of other PRPs not currently in the VLSG, and the final agreed upon allocation. Until a final remediation approach is approved and a final agreement is reached among all PRPs, it is reasonably possible that one or more of these factors could change our estimate; however, we are unable to determine the impact at this time.

OUR EMPLOYEES

At January 2, 2011, we had approximately 2,600 employees.

OUR WEBSITE

Our internet website is www.standardregister.com. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to these reports are available, without charge, on the website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file these reports with the SEC. You can also obtain these reports, free of charge, by contacting Investor Relations, Standard Register, Corporate Offices, P.O. Box 1167, Dayton, Ohio 45401, e-mail: investor@standardregister.com, phone: 937-221-1504. In addition, these reports and other information can be obtained, free of charge, at www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy materials we file with the SEC at the SEC s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 800-732-0330. We are not including the information contained in our website as part of, or incorporating it by reference to, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This report includes forward-looking statements covered by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. A forward-looking statement is neither a prediction nor a guarantee of future events or circumstances, and those future events or circumstances may not occur. Forward-looking statements include statements in which we use words such as "anticipates," "projects," "expects," "plans," "intends," "believes," "estimates," "targets," and other similar expressions that indicate trends and future events. Among other things, all statements regarding expectations related to our

transformation of our portfolio of solutions

future pension funding requirements and amortization of actuarial gains and losses

•

expanding market share in core markets and globally

investing in our employees

2011 priorities

fatore financial andition records and and flavor

future financial condition, revenue trends, and cash flows

projected costs or cost savings
•
dividends
•
capital expenditures
•
business strategy
•
competitive positions and market shares
are forward-looking statements that involve certain risks and uncertainties. Because forward-looking statements deal with future events, actual results for fiscal year 2011 and beyond could differ materially from our current expectations depending on a variety of factors including, but not limited to
•
the success of our plans to deal with the treats and opportunities brought by digital technology
•
the pace at which digital technologies erode the demand for certain traditional printed documents
•
our ability to attract and retain key personnel
•
variation in demand and acceptance of the Company's products and services
•
frequency, magnitude, and timing of paper and other raw material price changes
•
timing of the completion and integration of acquisitions
•
results of cost-containment strategies

These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and estimates. We cannot assure you that such expectations will prove to be correct. The Company undertakes no obligation to update forward-looking statements as a result of new information, since these statements may no longer be accurate or timely.

Item 1A Not applicable

Item 1B Not applicable

Item 2 PROPERTIES

Our corporate office is an owned facility located in Dayton, Ohio. In addition, as of January 2, 2011, we lease or own 28 production facilities and operate 11 warehouses, the majority of which are combined with our production facilities. All facilities are located in the U.S., with the exception of one production facility located in Mexico. More than half of our products are produced in our production facilities; other products are primarily sourced from one of the Company s preferred suppliers. Our current capacity, with modest capital additions, is expected to be sufficient to meet production requirements for the near future.

Item 3 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We have no material claims or litigation pending against us.

Item 4 Not applicable

PART II

Item 5 MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT S COMMON STOCK, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Price - The following table lists the high and low market prices as reported on the NYSE and cash dividends paid per share:

			2010					
Quarter	Div	ridend	H	ligh	I	ωw	I	Last
1st	\$	0.05	\$	6.48	\$	4.77	\$	5.31
2nd	\$	0.05	\$	5.70	\$	2.90	\$	2.90
3rd	\$	0.05	\$	3.80	\$	2.83	\$	2.96
4th	\$	0.05	\$	3.69	\$	2.95	\$	3.41
			2009					
Quarter	Divi	dend	High	1	Low		Last	
1st	\$	0.23	\$	8.92	\$	3.72	\$	5.05
2nd	\$	0.05	\$	6.03	\$	3.33	\$	3.49
3rd	\$	0.05	\$	5.45	\$	2.62	\$	5.31
4th	\$	0.05	\$	8.43	\$	4.50	\$	5.10

Approximate Number of Holders of Common Stock - On January 31, 2011, there were 2,183 shareholders of record of our common stock. This number includes restricted shares, but excludes individual holders whose shares are held by nominees. There are also 16 holders of Class A stock.

Dividends - We expect to continue paying quarterly cash dividends in the future; however, the amounts paid, if any,

will be dependent upon earnings and the future financial condition of the Company. See further discussion under Liquidity and Capital Resources.

There were no repurchases of our common stock during the fourth quarter of 2010. Information regarding our equity compensation plans is included in Item 12 and is incorporated by reference into this section of Item 5.

Item 6 - SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

THE STANDARD REGISTER COMPANY SIX-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

(Dollars in thousands except per share amounts)

	2010	2009	2008	2007 (a,b)		2006 (b,c,e)		2005 (b,d,e)	
SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS									
Revenue	\$ 668,377	\$ 694,016	\$ 791,076	\$	865,432	\$	894,291	\$	890,069
Cost of sales	454,796	473,446	540,274		593,118		602,933		605,245
Gross margin	213,581	220,570	250,802		272,314		291,358		284,824
Operating expenses	205,913	240,884	234,131		281,514		281,574		262,144
Interest expense	2,189	1,197	2,220		3,763		2,285		2,465
Investment and other (expense) income	(333)	390	285		208		228		499
Income tax expense (benefit)	2,503	(8,724)	7,905		(5,176)		4,500		10,378
Income (loss) from continuing									
operations	2,643	(12,397)	6,831		(7,579)		3,227		10,336
Loss from discontinued									
operations	-	-	-		(752)		(4,922)		(9,487)
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued									
operations	-	-	5		1,026		(10,044)		550
Net income (loss)	\$ 2,643	\$ (12,397)	\$ 6,836	\$	(7,305)	\$	(11,739)	\$	1,399
DILUTED PER SHARE DATA									
Income (loss) from continuing									
operations	\$ 0.09	\$ (0.43)	\$ 0.24	\$	(0.26)	\$	0.11	\$	0.36
Loss from discontinued									
operations	-	-	-		(0.03)		(0.17)		(0.33)
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued									
operations	-	-	-		0.04		(0.35)		0.02
Net income (loss)	\$ 0.09	\$ (0.43)	\$ 0.24	\$	(0.25)	\$	(0.41)	\$	0.05
Dividends paid	\$ 0.20	\$ 0.38	\$ 0.92	\$	0.92	\$	0.92	\$	0.92
Book value per share	\$ 1.55	\$ 1.46	\$ 1.21	\$	3.88	\$	4.13	\$	6.01
YEAR-END FINANCIAL DATA									
Current ratio	2.2 to 1	1.5 to 1	2.0 to 1		2.3 to 1		2.1 to 1		2.1 to 1
Working capital	\$ 94,282	\$ 55,840	\$ 86,415	\$	111,420	\$	116,456	\$	113,855
Plant and equipment	\$ 74,149	\$ 85,740	\$ 102,071	\$	110,975	\$	119,339	\$	129,989
Total assets	\$ 369,831	\$ 379,721	\$ 413,377	\$	420,966	\$	452,079	\$	475,912
Long-term debt (f)	\$ 42,926	\$ -	\$ 33,840	\$	51,988	\$	41,021	\$	34,379

Shareholders' equity	\$	44,848	\$	42,154	\$	34,969	\$	111,379	\$	118,070	\$	173,355
OTHER DATA												
Number of shares												
outstanding at year-end	28	,955,247	28,	864,151	28	,786,354	28	3,727,177	28	3,621,104	28	3,833,939
Number of employees		2,600		2,900		3,100		3,400		3,760		4,000
Capital expenditures	\$	8,403	\$	8,844	\$	17,330		\$	\$	22,906	\$	20,224
								21,575				

Note: Balance sheet data for 2005 and 2006 does not reflect Digital Solutions and InSystems as discontinued operations.

- (a) Reflects the gain on sale of Digital Solutions on April 21, 2007.
- (b) Reflects losses from discontinued operations as a result of the sale of Digital Solutions.
- (c) Reflects the loss on sale of InSystems on June 5, 2006.
- (d) Reflects income (losses) from discontinued operations as a result of the sale of the equipment service business.
- (e) Reflects income (losses) from discontinued operations as a result of the sale of InSystems.
- (f) Reflects all debt as current in 2009.

Item 7 MANAGEMENT S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

This Management s Discussion and Analysis provides material historical and prospective disclosures intended to enable investors and other users to assess our financial condition and results of operations. Statements that are not historical are forward-looking and involve risks and uncertainties, including those discussed under the caption Forward-Looking Information in Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and elsewhere in this report. These risks could cause our actual results to differ materially from any future performance suggested below. This Management s Discussion and Analysis includes the following sections:

•

Overview An overall discussion of our Company, the business challenges and opportunities we believe are key to our financial success, and our plans for facing these challenges and capitalizing upon the opportunities before us.

•

Critical Accounting Polices and Estimates A discussion of the accounting policies that require our most critical judgments and estimates. This discussion provides insight into the level of subjectivity, quality, and variability involved in these judgments and estimates.

•

Results of Operations An analysis of our consolidated results of operations and segment results for the three years presented in our consolidated financial statements. This analysis discusses material trends within our business and provides important information necessary for an understanding of our operating results.

•

Liquidity and Capital Resources An analysis of cash flows and a discussion of our financial condition. This section provides information necessary to evaluate our ability to generate cash and to meet existing and known future cash requirements over both the short and long term.

References to 2010, 2009, and 2008 refer to the 52-week period ended January 2, 2011, the 53-week period ended January 3, 2010, and the 52-week period ended December 28, 2008.

OVERVIEW

The Company We partner with our customers to help them manage the critical documents and processes they need to effectively run their operations and improve the way they communicate with and serve their customers, employees, and stakeholders. We not only produce printed documents, but we also help companies migrate from paper-based to digital processes by providing innovative tools to manage the entire lifecycle of their documents from concept to delivery. To accomplish this, we utilize our market expertise to provide products and services including: printed documents and communications, labels, nationwide distribution services, consulting, and technology solutions.

We make a measurable difference for our customers by helping them achieve their desired business outcomes. We assist them with reducing costs, transitioning to more efficient processes, effectively managing their risks, meeting their regulatory and industry requirements, and driving their business growth.

Our operations include four reportable segments based upon the primary markets we serve: Healthcare, Financial Services, Commercial Markets, and Industrial.

Our Business Challenges Advances in on-demand technologies have accelerated the adoption of electronic distribution of documents and digital printing, therefore reducing the market for longer-run traditional business forms, a legacy product offering of the Company. In addition, the downturn in the economy and turmoil in the credit markets in recent years have created highly competitive conditions in an already over-supplied, price-competitive industry. We have taken substantial measures to transform our Company to be leaders in our primary markets and believe our market expertise and attention to our customers have enabled us to stabilize our business in 2010. Going forward, we believe our continued success is dependent upon addressing the following key challenges:

believe our continued success is dependent upon addressing the following key chancinges.
•
Transformation of our portfolio of solutions
•
Future pension funding requirements and amortization of actuarial gains and losses
•
Expanding market share in core markets and globally
•
Investing in our employees.
12
13

Transformation of our portfolio of solutions Traditional business documents and information-driven processes are essential in order to conduct business. However, many printed documents and related services are being replaced or devalued with advances in digital technologies, causing steady declines in demand for a large portion of our legacy product line. The same digital advances also introduce new opportunities with significant growth potential for us, such as print-on-demand services and solutions that assist customers in their transition to digital business environments. These growth opportunities are particularly enhanced within our four market segments due to our extensive history and experience.

At the end of 2008, we began the process of evolving into a market-focused innovator. In 2009, we transformed from a product-driven company to one focused on the key markets we serve, and we aligned management roles and resources to create an intense focus on customer needs within our four primary markets. In 2010, we continued our transformation and focused on providing and developing new solutions for growth and durability. A key example is the optimization of our manufacturing footprint and implementation of new workflow and print technology in our Print On Demand Centers. We transformed five of our regional print centers into "super centers," equipping each with high-speed, high-quality color printing, and in-line finishing and bindery capabilities. In addition, the regional centers and our three largest satellite facilities were upgraded with the latest high-speed, monochrome printing equipment as well as wide-format printers. Advances in production were complemented by new digital workflow technology, which was rolled out across our entire digital print network. The software allows web-based orders to move from customer desktops through the production process with minimal intervention. It automatically routes orders to the print center most convenient to the customer, which dramatically improves fulfillment times and reduces freight costs for the customer. These investments create a strategic advantage for us by allowing us to capitalize on growth opportunities in print-on-demand services.

During the year, we also obtained new patents related to our label and wristband solutions that will benefit each of our market segments. The patents improve existing solutions by addressing safety, regulatory compliance, and efficiency needs of our customers. In addition, we purchased the assets of Fusion Graphics, Inc. The assets consist primarily of patented in-mold label products and intellectual property, including the Grafilm In-Mold Labeling System. The acquisition is expected to allow us to serve a much broader group of customers worldwide and continue to develop new products within our Industrial business unit. Building on these technologies, we launched our new Grafilm-Roto in-mold labeling product in the fourth quarter of 2010.

We have also developed strategic relationships with outside partners and invested in additional talent to further drive growth and development of innovative solutions that address the needs of our core markets.

As a result of these investments, we expect to grow and develop many innovative solutions, specifically in the areas of patient identification and safety solutions, secure document solutions, marketing solutions, and industrial in-mold labeling. These solutions address important business needs and are positioned for growth. We believe our extensive expertise within our markets combined with our continued focus on targeted solutions for those markets will differentiate us from our competitors and produce growth opportunities outside of traditional printed documents.

Future pension funding and loss amortization During 2001, 2002, and most recently in 2008, our qualified pension plan became underfunded due to weak stock market returns and historically low long-term interest rates. The amortization of these asset losses plus other actuarial losses has resulted in significant pension loss amortization in recent years \$18.7 million in 2010, \$14.6 million in 2009, and \$20.0 million in 2008. We expect this trend to continue and that pension loss amortization will continue to materially impact our operating profit in future years. Based upon current estimates of funding, asset performance, and interest rates over the next three years, we project pension loss amortization to be \$23.7 million in 2011, \$24.8 million in 2012, and \$25.7 million in 2013. However, due to the high degree of variability and uncertainty regarding the assumptions used to determine these amounts, actual results could differ significantly from those expected.

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 became effective in 2008 and increased the minimum funding requirements for our qualified pension plan. In response to the weak economic conditions, the Pension Relief Act of 2010 (PRA) was passed in 2010. The PRA provides funding relief specifically for plan years 2008—2011 by allowing plan sponsors to stretch out funding over a longer period of time for two of these years. Based upon the new requirements and current estimates, our minimum funding is estimated to be \$19 million in 2011, with minimum funding requirements in 2012 and 2013 estimated to be \$34 million and \$38 million. We anticipate making contributions in excess of the minimum in 2011 in order to lower required minimum contributions in later years. Therefore, we are estimating that actual cash contributions will be approximately \$30 million in 2011 and 2012 and \$31 million in 2013. Our estimates of minimum funding requirements are also dependent upon investment return and interest rate assumptions that have a high degree of variability and uncertainty, as evidenced in the recent economic climate. Unexpected gains or losses in asset values or changes in factors affecting interest rates could materially impact the actual required contributions.

In response to these challenges, in 2008 we modified our qualified and non-qualified defined benefit pension plans. As a result, participants in these plans ceased accruing additional pension benefits in July 2008, and the final pension amounts will be based upon pay and service through June 29, 2008. The effect of these actions eliminated pension service costs for these plans for 2009 and beyond, resulting in annualized net savings of approximately \$4 million in retirement costs. In addition, some variability in the actuarial gains and losses of these plans were eliminated as estimates of service periods and compensation levels are no longer required since plan benefits have been frozen. In 2011, we anticipate shifting our asset portfolio mix to a slightly more conservative allocation to better manage risks and volatility in future required contributions and asset gains and losses. We expect to continue this trend in the future, with the ultimate goal being to reach funded status.

Despite these changes, settlement of our pension obligations will still present uncertainty and variability in our financial results in future years, with the ultimate outcome determined by actual asset performance in our qualified plan, interest rates, and the level of our pension contributions.

Expanding market share in core markets and globally In 2010, we continued our turnaround plans to grow market share, optimize operations and earnings, and develop new solutions for growth and durability. We achieved positive results, as we acquired new customers and expanded business with existing customers across all of our segments. We continued to advance our market positions by developing key partnerships and alliances, providing us with new opportunities for growth-targeted products and increased market share in our legacy print products. Additionally, we continued investing in system and infrastructure enhancements, including a refresh of our web-based SMARTworks platform. These enhancements provide advanced web-based capabilities for our customers, reduce costs, and create operating efficiencies; all of which allow us opportunities to expand our market share through client service and reinvestment in solutions.

As demand for traditional print products is projected to decline approximately 10% per year, the continued expansion of our market share is a key factor to our success. We believe our current strategic plans will continue to drive further expansion of our market share in the U.S. going forward. However, since many of our customers have a global presence, we believe we must also increase our ability to provide international solutions. We are currently evaluating and developing plans for this expansion.

Investing in our employees Success in meeting our revenue and margin objectives depends in large part on our ability to attract, motivate, and retain highly-qualified personnel. Competition for people is intense and there is no assurance that we will be successful in attracting and retaining such personnel.

Our Focus In 2010, we continued to focus on our customers, creating cost and operational improvements and efficiencies, and cash flow. As a result of aligning our organization around our key markets, implementing and progressing with our go-to-market strategy, and creating an internal structure for continuous cost and revenue improvement, we have made substantial progress in these areas. Building on this success, our 2011 priorities continue to center around our customers and our Five Points Framework as follows:

Customer loyalty

Innovation

Organizational excellence

•

Impatient for profit

•

Intense governance for return on investment.

Customer loyalty We believe the key to our success is our customers. Our intense focus on our customers needs is intended to foster customer loyalty, and we have developed processes and tools to assist in building loyalty, extending our relationships, and measuring and ensuring customer satisfaction. In 2010, we improved our baseline customer loyalty scores and gained valuable insight to further improving our customer s experience with us. We will continue to monitor our progress and sponsor additional market-focused customer symposiums to further enhance our understanding of customer needs and how we can better serve them. By focusing on customer loyalty, we are ensuring that we have a clear understanding of how our customers view us and can develop specific action plans regarding the advancement of the business.

Innovation Our future success will be dependent on our ability to deliver innovative products and services that meet anticipated needs and solutions specific to our customers. As a result, each business unit has been tasked with innovation objectives. We plan to leverage our patented intellectual property and integrate our core technology and material science capabilities into new research and development opportunities. We also plan to continue to leverage third-party insight to drive higher levels of performance.

Organizational excellence Our realignment around vertical markets has enabled us to focus our efforts on providing valuable solutions to markets where we are trusted industry leaders and have extensive understanding of document and information management needs. In 2010, we continued advancing our market focus, built structure around our marketing organizations for our four segments, continued refining our shared services capabilities, and optimized our customer service centers. In 2011, organizational excellence continues to be our goal, and we expect to continue refining our processes to ensure that each person and process in the Company is aligned with our strategic goals.

Impatient for profit Our focus on customer loyalty, innovation, and organizational excellence is intended to drive decision making that enhances profit for the Company in both the short and long term. As part of this process, we will continue to critically evaluate costs and improve productivity in order to stay cost competitive and most importantly, generate positive cash flow.

Intense governance for return on investment We expect to continue to scrutinize investments in capital, hiring, and projects to ensure alignment with the above priorities. Building on the governance process we have put in place for this key area, we will also implement processes that promote periodic reviews of the success of our investments; ensuring returns on investments are realized.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

In preparing our financial statements and accounting for the underlying transactions and balances, we applied the accounting policies disclosed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Preparation of our financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Although we believe our estimates and assumptions are reasonable, they are based on information presently available, and actual results may differ significantly from those estimates.

We consider the estimates discussed below as critical to an understanding of our financial statements because they place the most significant demands on management s judgment about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain, and the impact of different estimates or assumptions is material to our financial condition or results of operations. The impact and any associated risks related to these estimates are discussed throughout this discussion and analysis where such estimates affect reported and expected financial results. The impact of changes in the estimates and assumptions discussed below for the pension plan, fair value measurements, deferred taxes, inventories, and environmental liabilities generally do not affect segment results. However, changes in revenue recognition could impact individual segment results.

For a detailed discussion of the application of these and other accounting policies, see Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Management has discussed the development and selection of the critical accounting policies and the related disclosure included herein with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Pension Benefit Plan Assumptions

Included in our financial statements are significant pension obligations and benefit costs which are measured using actuarial valuations. The use of actuarial models requires us to make certain assumptions concerning future events that will determine the amount and timing of the benefit payments. Such assumptions include the discount rate and the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. In addition, the actuarial calculation includes subjective factors, such as withdrawal and mortality rates, to estimate the projected benefit obligation. The actuarial assumptions used may differ materially from actual results due to changing market and economic conditions, higher or lower withdrawal rates, or longer or shorter life spans of participants. These differences may have a significant impact on the amount of pension obligations and benefit expense recorded in future periods.

Discount rate One of the principal components of calculating the projected benefit obligation and certain components of pension benefit costs is the assumed discount rate. The discount rate is the assumed rate at which future pension benefits could be effectively settled. The discount rate established at year end for the benefit obligations is also used in the calculation of the interest component of benefit cost for the following year. Discount rates are established based on prevailing market rates for high-quality, fixed-income instruments with maturities equal to the future cash flows to pay the benefit obligations when due.

16

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets One of the principal components of the net periodic pension cost calculation is the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. The required use of an expected long-term rate of return on plan assets may result in recognized pension income that is greater or less than the actual returns of those plan assets in any given year. Over time, however, the expected long-term returns are designed to approximate the actual long-term returns and therefore result in a pattern of income and expense recognition that more closely matches the pattern of the services provided by our employees. Our qualified defined benefit pension plan s assets are invested in a broadly- diversified portfolio consisting primarily of publicly-traded common stocks and fixed-income securities. We use long-term historical actual return experience and estimates of future long-term investment return, with consideration to the expected investment mix of the plan s assets, to develop our expected rate of return assumption used in the net periodic pension cost calculation. Differences between actual and expected returns are recognized in the pension cost calculation over five years using a five-year, market-related asset value method of amortization. The amortization of these differences has, and will continue to have, a significant effect on net periodic pension cost.

Our non-qualified pension benefit plans are unfunded plans and have no plan assets. Therefore, the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is not a factor in accounting for these benefit plans.

Assumptions regarding mortality One of the assumptions made in the calculation of the projected benefit obligation is an estimate of mortality rates for the population of pension participants. Our actuaries use mortality tables, which include death rates for each age, in estimating the amount of pension benefits that will become payable. The mortality tables include the proportion of the number of deaths in a specified group to the number living at the beginning of the period in which the deaths occur. We use the RP-2000 Mortality Table to determine benefit obligations and to determine pension and postretirement benefit cost.

We review the assumptions used to account for our pension obligations and benefit cost each fiscal year end.

Weighted-Average Assumptions

Projected benefit obligation	2010	2009
Discount rate used for pension obligations	5.00%	5.80%

Holding all other assumptions constant:

•

A 1% increase in the discount rate would decrease the pension obligation recorded by approximately \$35 million.

•

A 1% decrease in the discount rate would increase the pension obligation recorded by approximately \$43 million.

Net periodic pension benefit cost	2010	2009	2008
Discount rate (1)	5.80%	5.75/7.0%	5.75%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets	8.75%	8.75%	8.75%

(1) The discount rate was 5.75% through March 1, 2009 and 7.0% April through December 2009 due to settlements that occurred on March 1, 2009. As a result, pension expense was adjusted to reflect the updated discount rate at that time.

Holding all other assumptions constant:

•

A 1% increase in the discount rate would decrease pension cost by approximately \$2.2 million. A 1% decrease in the discount rate would increase pension cost by approximately \$2.4 million.

•

A 1% increase or decrease in the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets would decrease or increase pension benefit cost by \$2.9 million.

The long-term rate of return on plan assets we expect to use to determine fiscal 2011 net periodic pension cost is 8.0%, due to changes expected in the asset allocation. We expect this rate to continue to decline in future years as we continue plans to minimize our risks and variability in asset gains and losses.

We currently have approximately \$156.4 million of actuarial losses, net of deferred tax benefit, related to our pension plans that will be amortized to expense in future years. We expect amortization expense to trend higher in future periods based on current estimates of funding, asset performance, and interest rates. Due to the high degree of variability and uncertainty in these assumptions, actual results could differ significantly.

17

Goodwill

During the second quarter of 2010, we performed the annual impairment test for goodwill. The test was performed at the reporting unit level using the two-step approach required by generally accepted accounting principles.

The first step of the test required us to compare the fair value of the reporting units to the carrying value of the assets assigned to those reporting units, including goodwill. If the fair value exceeds the carrying value, goodwill is not impaired and no further testing is performed. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds the estimated fair value, step two is completed to determine the amount of the impairment loss.

To determine fair value, we followed an income approach utilizing a discounted future cash flow methodology. The determination of the fair value of the reporting units required us to make significant estimates and assumptions, including revenue growth rates and operating margins used to calculate projected future cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rates, and future economic and market conditions. In addition, we made certain judgments and assumptions in allocating shared assets and liabilities to determine the carrying values for each of our reporting units. Though we believe our assumptions are reasonable, actual financial results could be different due to unanticipated events and circumstances that may occur. The following describes the key assumptions used in our fair value calculations:

•

Revenue and cost assumptions: Using historical trending and internal forecasting techniques, we projected revenue for the remainder of 2010 through 2013. Factory cost and revenue forecasts were from our three-year strategy analysis which was performed based on both historical information and the Company s current strategic plan. A terminal value was then applied to the projected cash flow stream based on the three-year cash flow.

We calculated three outcomes: a most likely, a best case, and a worst case based on future cash flow projections. All outcomes were weighted to arrive at an overall projected cash flow.

•

Discount rate determination: We used the industry weighted-average cost of capital that reflects the weighted average return on debt and equity of our peer group from a market participant perspective.

The results of our test indicated that the fair values of our reporting units were greater than their carrying value; therefore, goodwill was not impaired and no further testing was performed.

In addition to calculating a range of possible outcomes, we also performed a sensitivity analysis designed to understand the relative impact of the major assumptions used in our calculations. If our estimate of expected future cash flows had been 5% lower, or there was a 1% variation in either the terminal value or the discount rate, the expected future cash flows would still have exceeded the carrying value of the assets, including goodwill.

Deferred Taxes

Significant management judgment is required in determining our deferred tax assets and liabilities, any valuation allowance recorded against our deferred tax assets, and our provision for income taxes, including tax positions taken or to be taken in our tax returns.

At January 2, 2011, we had net deferred tax assets of \$115.0 million attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and to operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. We base our estimate of deferred tax assets and liabilities on current tax laws and rates and, in certain cases, business plans, tax planning strategies, and other expectations about future outcomes.

Since the effect of a change in tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period when the changes are enacted, changes in existing tax laws or rates could affect actual tax results, and future business results may affect the amount of deferred tax liabilities or the valuation of deferred tax assets over time.

We review the potential future tax benefits of all deferred tax assets on an ongoing basis. Our review includes consideration of historical and projected future operating results, reversals of existing deferred tax liabilities, tax planning strategies, and the eligible carryforward period of each deferred tax asset to determine whether a valuation allowance is appropriate.

Included in deferred tax assets at January 2, 2011 are unused U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of \$80.3 million and \$43.1 million (\$31.0 million in deferred tax assets), generally expiring from 2023 through 2030. Based on the weight of available evidence, including the potential sources of taxable income, we have concluded that it is more likely than not that these losses will be utilized. As such, we have not recorded a valuation allowance for the tax benefit of these losses.

We have established valuation allowances for Canadian capital loss carryforwards of approximately \$80.1 million (\$14.0 million in deferred tax assets) because we believe it is more likely than not that they will not be utilized. Should future taxable income be materially different from our estimates, changes in the valuation allowance could occur that would impact our tax expense in the future.

Although realization is not assured, management believes it is more likely than not that all of the remaining deferred tax assets will be realized. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable; however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income are reduced.

Inventories

Under the dollar value last-in-first-out (LIFO) inventory method, similar items of inventory are aggregated to form inventory "pools." Increases and decreases in a pool are identified and measured in terms of the total dollar value of inventory in the pool. The use of indices is an integral part of the dollar value LIFO method. Using the link-chain technique, a cumulative index is used to convert (deflate) year-end inventories priced at current cost to base-year cost and to convert (inflate) an increment stated at base-year cost back to LIFO cost. Under both techniques, indices are developed by pricing all inventory items twice. In other words, inventory quantities on hand at the end of the current year are priced at current year current costs and at prior year current costs. This ratio of costs is then used to adjust the cumulative index at the end of the preceding year to a new cumulative index. The total current cost of current year-end inventories is next converted to total base-year cost by means of the new cumulative index. The net change in inventory is then determined by comparing the total inventory at base-year cost at the beginning and the end of the current year. LIFO values are determined, by layer, by applying the applicable cumulative index to the increments stated at base-year cost.

We evaluate the LIFO calculation each quarter and record an adjustment, if necessary, for the expected annual effect of inflation, and these estimates are adjusted to actual results determined at year end. We determine the LIFO cost on an interim basis by estimating annual inflation trends, annual purchases and ending inventory levels for the fiscal year. We apply internally-developed indices that we believe more consistently measure inflation or deflation in the components of our inventories and product mix and our merchandise mix. We believe the internally-developed indices more accurately reflect inflation or deflation in our own prices than the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics producer price indices or other published indices. Should actual annual inflation rates and inventory balances at the end of any fiscal year differ materially from our interim estimates, changes could occur that would materially affect our Consolidated Statement of Income for that year.

At January 2, 2011, a 10% increase in our 2010 cumulative index percentage would have increased our LIFO expense approximately \$0.4 million or approximately \$0.2 million after tax. Conversely, a 10% decrease in our 2010 cumulative index percentage would have decreased our LIFO expense by approximately (\$0.4) million or approximately (\$0.2) million after tax.

Environmental Remediation

We are currently involved in the remediation of three environmental sites that are more fully described in Note 18 to our Consolidated Financial Statements. In accordance with accounting standards for environmental liabilities, we have recorded an estimate of the total costs to remediate these sites. However, due to the lengthy nature in settling environmental obligations and the fact that final remedies have not been determined for two of the sites, determining total costs requires the use of significant judgment and estimates. Areas requiring the most significant judgments and estimates include the extent and timing of final remediation actions and the estimation of our share of the final remedy. Due to the complexity of environmental issues, monitoring costs can extend for many years. We must also estimate all costs related to the final remedy, which frequently involves complex procedures that can vary significantly from original plans depending on actual conditions encountered on the site. Until final remediation approaches are approved and final agreements are reached among all PRPs, it is reasonably possible that one or more of these factors could change our estimates; however, we are unable to determine the impact at this time.

Revenue Recognition

We enter into sales arrangements with customers that contain multiple elements or deliverables such as software, professional services, and ongoing maintenance and post-contract customer support. We account for the licensing of software arrangements in accordance with generally accepted accounting standards for software revenue recognition. We recognize revenue when all four revenue recognition criteria have been met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, we have delivered the product or performed the service, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collection is probable. Determining whether and when some of these criteria have been satisfied often involves assumptions and judgments that can have a significant impact on the timing and amount of revenue we report. For example, for multiple element arrangements, we must: (1) determine whether and when each element has been delivered; (2) determine whether undelivered products or services are essential to the functionality of the delivered products and services; (3) determine whether vendor-specific objective evidence (VSOE) of fair value exists for each undelivered element; and (4) allocate the total price among the various elements we must deliver. Changes in assumptions or judgments or changes to the elements in a software arrangement could change the timing or amount of revenue that we report in a particular period.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The discussion that follows provides information which we believe is relevant to an understanding of our results of operations and financial condition. The discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto. This analysis is presented in the following sections:

•

Consolidated Summary: This section provides an overview of our consolidated results of operations for 2010, 2009, and 2008.

•

Segment Operating Results: An analysis of revenue, cost of sales, gross margin, and operating income by segment.

Consolidated Summary

The following summarizes our consolidated results for 2010, 2009, and 2008. In addition, the table presents Non-GAAP net income, which is a non-GAAP financial measure and represents net income excluding pension loss amortization, pension settlements, restructuring charges, and asset impairments. Generally, a non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of a company s performance, financial position, or cash flows where amounts are either excluded or included not in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The presentation of non-GAAP information is not meant to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for results prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. We believe that this non-GAAP financial measure enhances the understanding of our results of operations due to the non-operational nature of the excluded items and the significant and varying effect they have on our reported results from period to period. This presentation is consistent with the manner in which our Board of Directors establishes incentives and internally evaluates performance.

		%		%	
Consolidated results:	2010	Change	2009	Change	2008
Revenue	\$ 668.3	-4%	\$	-12%	\$
			694.0		791.1
Cost of sales	454.8	-4%	473.4	-12%	540.3
Gross margin	213.5	-3%	220.6	-12%	250.8
Gross margin % of sales	32.0%		31.8%		31.7%
SG&A expense	204.6	0%	205.3	-10%	228.3
Pension curtailments and settlements	0.4		20.4		(0.7)
Restructuring and asset impairment	1.7		12.7		5.8
Environmental remediation	(0.8)		2.5		0.8
Other expense, net	2.5		0.8		1.9
Income (loss) from continuing operations before taxes	5.1		(21.1)		14.7

Edgar Filing: STANDARD REGISTER CO - Form 10-K

Income tax expense (benefit)		2.5	(8.7)	7.9
% rate	4	18.7%	41.3%	53.6%
Income (loss) from continuing		\$	\$	\$
operations		2.6	(12.4)	6.8
Non-GAAP net income:				
Income (loss) from continuing		\$	\$	\$
operations		2.6	(12.4)	6.8
Adjustments:				
Pension loss amortization		18.7	14.6	20.0
Pension settlement losses		0.4	20.4	-
Restructuring and asset impairment (1)		2.3	12.7	5.8
Income tax effect of adjustments (at statutory tax rates)		(8.5)	(18.9)	(10.2)
Non-GAAP net income	\$	15.5	\$	\$
			16.4	22.4

(1) Includes impairment recorded in other income

In 2009, the Company s revenue was under pressure from several aspects. Volatile economic conditions led to weaker pricing in an already over-supplied and competitive industry as our customers were forced to seek cost savings in their own operations to remain viable. Adoption of digital technologies also continued to erode revenues from traditional print as expected within the industry, but did so at an accelerated rate as customers transitioned to available digital technologies as a means to further reduce costs. Additionally, a portion of our revenues are derived from industrial manufacturing customers who were particularly affected by the downturn in the economy. The declining consumer demand in this market translated to lower unit sales as manufacturing customers reduced their production in response.

During 2010, we executed our plans to grow market share, transform our product portfolio, and optimize earnings. We achieved positive results as we acquired new customers and expanded business with existing customers across all of our segments. We continued to advance our market positions by developing key partnerships and alliances, providing us new opportunities for growth-targeted products and increased market share in our traditional print products. We remained focused on transforming our product portfolios within all of our segments and recently launched new solutions. Economic conditions also showed improvement across our markets, which corresponded to increased order levels. However, customers continued to focus on cost containment, resulting in pressure on price. Additionally, cost reduction initiatives implemented by our customers were the primary driver for declined use of certain legacy print products, as technology was utilized to reduce or eliminate the need for printed products.

We continued cost improvement efforts through our structured internal cost improvement process which positively impacted year-to-date earnings. We optimized our manufacturing footprint and continued to transform our product portfolio by implementing new workflow and print technology in our centers. Additionally, we continued investing in system and infrastructure enhancements, including a refresh of our web-based SMARTworks platform.

As a result of these efforts, we stabilized revenue, improved our cost structure, and enhanced our capabilities and operations. Excluding the extra week of revenue in 2009 of approximately \$9.0 million, the revenue decline was only \$16.7 million or 2% in 2010, compared to a revenue decline of \$106.1 million or 13% in 2009. The gross margin percentages improved in both years despite the declines in revenue, and we returned to positive net income in 2010. Adjusted operating income was lower in 2010 as compared with 2009 due to the reinvestments in our infrastructure.

The following table details the estimated changes in revenue and cost of sales due to units, price, and mix for 2010 and 2009 (includes 53 weeks).

	Revenue	Change	Cost of Sal	es Change
	2010	2009	2010	2009
Units	-3%	-11%	-2%	-9%
Price	-1%	-1%	-3%	-3%
Mix	-	-	1%	-
	-4%	-12%	-4%	-12%

Revenue

The acquisition of new customers, expansion of new business with existing customers, and an upward trend in order levels due to improved economic conditions drove improvement in our unit sales during 2010. These positive trends resulted in stabilized unit levels as the year progressed. However, due to the significant erosion in volume that occurred during 2009, units remained at slightly lower levels. Excluding the extra week of revenue in 2009, the unit decline in 2010 was only 2%. Revenue increased in growth-targeted products such as marketing solutions, technology solutions, and industrial labels; however, revenue declines in our traditional print products continued to offset these gains.

Declines in pricing in 2010 were driven by intense price competition and customer efforts to minimize costs, particularly in our Commercial Markets segment which operates in highly competitive market conditions. We expect customers across all of our segments to remain focused on costs as a slow recovery in the economy continues. While pricing on the supply side was stable in 2009, we began experiencing increased material costs during 2010. We have successfully passed through these costs, which offset pricing pressures during the year. Therefore, despite continued competitive pressures, the overall impact of supply-side price volatility was neutral. Price competition and a slow economy may delay or hinder our ability to fully recover these costs in future periods.

In 2009, lower units accounted for a decline of approximately 11% in consolidated revenues. The unit decline was lessened by the extra week in our fiscal year that contributed approximately \$9 million and by higher revenue from new customer contracts. Because of our intense customer focus, we extended our services or increased our customer base across all of our segments and substantially maintained our existing customer base during the year. Pricing increased for the pass-through of our material costs at a lower rate in 2009, as our material prices stabilized during the year. Combined with increased levels of pricing concessions, overall pricing in 2009 declined 1%.

Cost of Sales and Gross Margin

As shown in the table, the decline in cost of sales in 2010 was driven primarily by units and price. Units declined due to the overall decrease in sales volume. We estimate that the reduction in production costs through our restructuring actions, workforce reductions, and cost reduction initiatives taken during 2009 accounted for substantially all of the decline in price. In addition, as we continued to actively reduce our inventories, some of our LIFO inventory layers were liquidated contributing to a favorable LIFO adjustment in cost of sales of approximately \$3.8 million. Cost reductions were partially offset by an unfavorable product mix. Due to increased opportunities in certain marketing solutions resulting, product mix shifted from some lower-cost internally produced products to other higher-cost products that are primarily outsourced. The gross margin percentage in 2010 remained consistent with 2009, despite the decline in revenue. We expect to continue to realize additional production cost savings through our internal cost improvement processes.

In 2009, cost of sales decreased 12%, primarily driven by the decline in units from lower sales volume. We initiated restructuring actions in 2007 and 2008 to create operating efficiencies and to reduce production costs and continued to realize savings from these actions of approximately 3%, allowing us to maintain a steady gross margin percentage as compared with 2008 despite declines in sales volume. We also experienced a favorable LIFO adjustment of approximately \$5 million, or 1%. These savings were offset slightly by increases in material prices.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

	2010	2009	2008
Selling and sales support	\$ 100.7	\$ 108.7	\$ 119.5
Research and development	4.5	4.8	4.6
General and administrative expense	76.5	71.3	74.4
Depreciation	8.8	9.2	9.7
Amortization of pension net actuarial losses	18.7	14.6	20.0
Other pension and postretirement expense	(4.6)	(3.3)	0.1
Total selling, general and administrative expense	\$ 204.6	\$ 205.3	\$ 228.3

Selling and sales support decreased \$8.0 million in 2010 and \$10.8 million in 2009. In 2010, our cost reduction initiatives reduced expenses approximately \$10.7 million, primarily in compensation-related expenses, communication service costs, and facility costs. Reductions in communication service costs were enabled in large part by the increased infrastructure investments reported in general and administrative expenses. Product management costs on key priority solutions, new deal support costs in client satisfaction, and business development costs were higher by approximately \$2.7 million as we moved forward with planned investments related to our go-to-market strategy. The decrease in selling and sales support in 2009 as compared with 2008 was primarily a result of prior restructuring actions, lower incentive compensation due to reduced revenue, and lower travel-related expenses.

Our restructuring plans and cost reduction initiatives have resulted in steady declines in general and administrative expenses. However, planned investments and increased compensation and related expenses outpaced these savings in

2010. Investments in system infrastructure projects accounted for an increase of approximately \$6 million, of which approximately \$2.7 million was focused on advancing our client-facing technology through SMARTworks. The decrease in general and administrative expenses in 2009 as compared with 2008 was primarily due to lower compensation and related expenses, despite a 53-week fiscal year in 2009, and reductions in healthcare, travel and professional services expenses.

Amortization of pension net actuarial losses increased in 2010 as expected due to significant net actuarial losses recorded in recent years that are required to be amortized in future periods. Amortization trended lower in 2009 primarily as a result of the settlements that occurred in 2009, which are more fully discussed under Pension curtailments and settlements. Based upon current estimates of funding, asset performance, and interest rates over the next three years, we project pension loss amortization to be \$23.7 million in 2011, \$24.8 million in 2012, and \$25.7 million in 2013.

Primarily as a result of plan modifications, other pension and postretirement costs declined in 2010 and 2009. Due to the decrease in the expected rate of return assumption used for our qualified plan in 2011, we expect pension costs to increase approximately \$2.4 million in 2011. We expect this rate to continue to decline in future years as we continue plans to minimize our risks and variability in asset gains and losses.

Pension curtailments and settlements

A pension settlement charge is recorded when the total lump sum payments for a year exceed total service and interest costs recognized for that year. The settlement charge recognizes a pro-rata portion of the unrecognized actuarial losses at the date of the settlement. We recorded non-cash settlement charges of \$20.4 million in 2009 as a result of employees retiring and electing lump sum payments of their benefits related to our qualified, non-qualified and supplemental executive retirement plans.

Restructuring and Other Exit Costs

The Company has undertaken cost reduction initiatives and restructuring actions as part of ongoing efforts to improve efficiencies, reduce costs, and maintain a strong financial condition. We recorded \$1.7 million, \$11.5 million, and \$5.6 million of restructuring and other exit costs in 2010, 2009, and 2008 related to these savings initiatives. We intend to continue to critically evaluate operations and costs and may initiate additional cost-reducing initiatives or restructurings in the future.

2009 Plans

In 2009, we launched a company-wide review of business practices and growth acceleration opportunities designed around the priorities of client satisfaction, cost reduction, and increased market coverage. As a result, we implemented a restructuring plan and numerous organizational improvements to simplify business, move closer to the customer, grow revenue, and improve overall efficiency of our business.

During the latter part of 2009 and throughout 2010, we have:

•

Optimized our manufacturing footprint by investing in regional Print On Demand Centers, scaling down local Print On Demand Centers, closing certain production and distribution centers, improving our supply chain, and simplifying processes.

•

Proactively addressed the movement to digital technologies and managed working capital more effectively by moving to more on-demand based production, which has lowered our inventory and warehousing requirements

Repositioned and refined our go-to-market organization to capture revenue growth in core markets

•

Invested in system enhancements making it easier to serve customers

•

Employed strategic procurement processes and systems that leverage vendor relationships company-wide.

We expect to continue implementation through 2011; however, the majority of our plans were completed in 2010. When fully implemented, we expect to achieve cost savings between \$30 and \$40 million, on an annual run-rate basis compared with the fourth quarter of 2009, and are currently on track to realize all of these savings. We expect to have

involuntary termination costs of \$3.4 million for severance and outplacement services; contract termination costs of \$2.6 million for leased facilities; and other associated costs of \$8.6 million, primarily for fees to the third party that assisted with the development and implementation of our plan and for costs to relocate equipment and inventory.

2008 Plans

In 2008, we initiated several actions in order to create efficiencies and reduce costs. We closed two print centers and one distribution center and integrated two other print centers with distribution warehouses. This move was in response to a changing product mix away from traditional short-run offset to increased print on demand and allowed us to reduce operating expenses by leveraging more cross-functional roles in production and distribution.

We also redesigned our client support infrastructure to more of a centralized model. We transitioned customer transactional and administrative functions from our field sales offices to one of three client satisfaction centers. The overall benefit of the change is an optimized client support model along with significant annualized cost savings.

Lastly, we eliminated approximately 175 positions throughout the Company in response to revenue declines, soft industry demand for some traditional printed products, and weak economic conditions.

All of the actions related to these plans are complete, with the majority of associated costs incurred in 2008. We do not expect any additional costs related to this restructuring plan, and we have realized substantially all of the projected savings expected.

Asset Impairments

As a result of the 2009 restructuring plan, we conducted an extensive review of our property, plant, and equipment to determine if any assets were impaired. The majority of assets reviewed were determined not to be impaired at this time; however, the remaining useful lives were adjusted to reflect updated expectations regarding the use and disposition of the assets. Changes to our restructuring plans could affect the ultimate use of these assets and result in impairment charges in future periods.

Environmental Remediation

We currently participate in the remediation of two environmental sites for which final remedies have not yet been determined (Pasco Site and Valleycrest Site). Prior to 2009, our expenses related to these matters had not been significant. However, in 2009, we recorded noncash charges of \$2.5 million for estimated costs for environmental remediation. Of this amount, \$2.0 million related to the Valleycrest Landfill site. We had participated with other potentially responsible parties of this site from 1995 through 2003. In 2003, GM stepped into the Company s position under the Site Participation Agreement and agreed to indemnify the Company against certain future liability in connection with the site. Therefore, we did not previously record a liability for potential remediation costs. In 2009, we were notified that in connection with GM s bankruptcy filing, GM did not plan to continue contributions to the site, including its contractual obligation to indemnify the Company for future liability. Due to this development, we recorded an estimate of our potential liability for remediation costs. Determining the amount of these costs required significant estimates, as we were in the early stages of developing a remediation plan with other potentially responsible parties, and final potentially responsible parties and their respective shares were unknown.

During 2010, we obtained updated information regarding currently proposed remediation and our expected share of the remediation for these sites. As a result, we updated the estimates of our total costs to remediate these sites, which resulted in a net noncash credit of \$0.8 million. Of this amount, the Pasco Site accounted for a credit of \$1.3 million, and the Valleycrest Site accounted for a charge of \$0.5 million. As we are still in the early stages of developing a remediation plan with other potentially responsible parties for the Valleycrest Site, estimates of total projected costs are difficult to determine. Additionally, since the final potentially responsible parties and their respective shares of the remediation costs have not been determined at this time for either site, uncertainty exists as to what our final share of the total costs may be. Therefore, we could experience increased costs in future periods as the remediation processes progress, although we are unable to estimate the amounts at this time.

Other Income & Expense

Other income and expense consists primarily of interest expense. Interest expense increased to \$2.2 million in 2010, compared with \$1.2 million and \$2.2 million in 2009 and 2008. The increase in 2010 resulted from higher interest rates paid under our new revolving credit facility secured early in 2010. The decrease in 2009 was primarily the result of lower debt balances and declining interest rates during 2009.

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate used to calculate our tax benefit or expense was 48.7%, 41.3%, and 53.6% for 2010, 2009, and 2008. The reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the effective tax rate follows:

	2010	2009	2008
Statutory federal income tax rate	35.0 %	35.0 %	35.0 %
State and local income taxes	7.5	4.7	4.7
Change in cash surrender value	(3.3)	2.7	12.0
Meals & entertainment	3.3	(0.9)	1.6
Increase in unrecognized tax benefits	3.7	-	-
Adjustment to prior year tax accruals	5.6	(0.3)	1.8
Foreign statutory rate differential	(5.4)	(0.4)	0.5
Permanent and other items	2.3	0.5	(2.0)
Effective tax rate	48.7 %	41.3 %	53.6 %

An increase in our effective rate for state and local income taxes in 2010 resulted from state tax liabilities derived from a tax base other than net income.

Unrealized gains and losses in the cash surrender value of life insurance policies held in a Rabbi Trust for our deferred compensation plan are not includable in taxable income and therefore impacted our statutory and effective tax rates as shown in the table.

The increase in the effective rate in 2010 for unrecognized tax benefits is primarily due to permanent differences related to the deductibility of executive compensation.

During 2010, our Mexican operations became profitable and fully utilized its NOL carryforward. We previously recorded a full reserve for these carryforwards; therefore, the usage of the loss carryforward reduced foreign income tax expense and resulted in the increase in foreign statutory rate differential in 2010.

Segment Operating Results

Management evaluates the results of its segments on the basis of operating income excluding restructuring charges, asset impairments, pension loss amortization, pension settlements, LIFO adjustment, environmental remediation, and other miscellaneous corporate items. This non-GAAP information is not meant to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for results prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The segment information presented in Note 17 Segment Reporting of the Notes to Financial Statements is also presented on this basis. A complete description of our reportable segments is included in Item 1, Business.

Components of Segment Operating Income

Production costs of our manufacturing and supply chain shared-services functions are accumulated on a customer basis and reported in the applicable business unit s cost of sales. Our business units incur a portion of selling, general and administrative expense (SG&A) directly. Each business unit also receives an allocation of SG&A expense as follows:

•

Each business unit has its own sales regions. Selling expense incurred by each sales region is allocated to other business units based on the percentage of revenue generated for the other business unit. We use an activity-based method to allocate expense associated with our client satisfaction function to business units.

•

Finance, technology, and other corporate general and administrative expenses are allocated based on the business unit s actual revenue as a percentage of actual consolidated revenue.

•

General and administrative expense of our remaining shared-services is allocated based on a percentage of actual revenue.

Variability in the segment s actual revenue or the level of selling or corporate SG&A expense to allocate can have a significant impact on segment profitability.

Segment Operating Results

The following table presents Revenue, Gross Margin, and Operating Income (Loss) by segment for 2010, 2009, and 2008. A discussion of each segment s results follows.

	2	2010	% Chg	Chg 2009		% Chg	2008	
Revenue								
Healthcare	\$	251.0	-6%	\$	265.8	-7%	\$	284.8
Financial Services		175.6	-9%		193.2	-14%		224.8

Edgar Filing: STANDARD REGISTER CO - Form 10-K

Commercial Markets Industrial Consolidated Revenue	\$	165.9 75.8 668.3	-2% 17% -4%	\$	170.1 64.9 694.0	-16% -19% -12%	\$	201.5 80.0 791.1	
Consolidated Revenue	Ψ	000.0	-170	Ψ	074.0	1270	Ψ	771.1	
			% Rev			% Rev			% Rev
Gross Margin									
Healthcare	\$	91.9	36.6%	\$	96.5	36.3%	\$	104.3	36.6%
Financial Services		52.2	29.7%		56.2	29.1%		63.2	28.1%
Commercial Markets		43.0	25.9%		45.0	26.5%		58.7	29.1%
Industrial		22.7	29.9%		18.0	27.7%		24.6	30.8%
Total Segments (1)	\$	209.8	31.4%	\$	215.7	31.1%	\$	250.8	31.7%
Operating Income (Loss)									
Healthcare	\$	19.6	7.8%	\$	22.6	8.5%	\$	25.6	9.0%
Financial Services		7.4	4.2%		7.9	4.1%		9.0	4.0%
Commercial Markets		(4.0)	-2.4%		(4.0)	-2.4%		3.3	1.6%
Industrial		0.2	0.3%		(1.3)	-2.0%		2.6	3.3%
Total Segments (1)	\$	23.2	3.5%	\$	25.2	3.6%	\$	40.5	5.1%

⁽¹⁾ Segment gross margin excludes LIFO adjustments that are included in consolidated gross margin in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income. A reconciliation of operating income per segment to consolidated income from operations is provided in Note 17-Segment Reporting of the Notes to Financial Statements.

Healthcare

Our Healthcare segment serves hospitals and other providers of healthcare and related services. This market is undergoing fundamental change as advancing technologies and the focus on patient safety and cost efficiencies are transforming how patient information is obtained and maintained throughout the patient care process. These factors, combined with legislative actions in the U.S., are leading to a shift from printed patient documents and records to electronic medical records, steadily reducing demand for most traditional print products while increasing demands for digital document solutions and safety products. Poor economic conditions, particularly during 2009, have also negatively impacted customers in this market leading to delays in capital projects, increased pricing pressures, and reduced demand.

Since reorganizing around our markets in 2009, we have continued to build on our extensive expertise in healthcare and address the needs of our customers in this changing market by focusing on solutions that ease the transition to electronic medical records, enhance patient care and safety, and reduce overall costs. We have also taken efforts to increase our market share by extending existing solutions to current customers, securing additional GPO agreements, and creating strategic partnerships.

As a result of our market focus, we acquired new customers through our GPO agreement with Novation and expanded our offerings to existing customers in 2010. Revenue from some growth-targeted solutions also increased. Patient information solutions revenue increased approximately 46% and marketing and training solutions increased approximately 19% as compared with 2009. Despite this expansion however, Healthcare revenue declined \$14.8 million or 6% in 2010 compared with 2009. The lack of an extra week in 2010 as compared with 2009 contributed to \$4.4 million or 2% of the decline. Additionally, administrative and clinical forms revenue, which currently accounts for approximately half of our revenue, continued to erode at a faster pace than our expansion rate, accounting for approximately 11% of the revenue decline. Growth in our wristband solutions that was expected to partially offset these declines in 2010 was not realized due in part to limitations under our existing GPO agreements.

In 2009, Healthcare revenue declined \$19.0 million or 7% as compared with 2008, with the extra week of revenue in 2009 lessening the overall revenue decline realized. The largest declines were in our administrative and clinical forms, which were offset in part by increases in our patient communications, wristbands, and secure prescriptions. Weak economic conditions were a leading factor in this decline, as our customers focused on cost containment, sought price concessions, and delayed or reduced order levels. The proliferation of technology also negatively affected revenue and accounted for a significant portion of the overall revenue decline as some customers utilized technology to produce or eliminate the need for some of the products we provide.

The following table details the estimated changes in revenue and cost of sales due to units and price for 2010 and 2009 (includes 53 weeks). Changes in product mix did not materially contribute to the changes in revenue and cost of sales.

	Revenue	Revenue Change		les Change
	2010	2009	2010	2009
Units	-5%	-6%	-4%	-5%
Price	-1%	-1%	-2%	-1%
	-6%	-7%	-6%	-6%

2010 compared to **2009**

Revenue: During 2010, units increased as we continued efforts to retain and expand our customer base by pursuing new opportunities provided by the Novation contract secured late in 2009 and by expanding sales in growth-targeted solutions. However, these increases were offset by declines in our administrative and clinical forms due to adoption of digital technologies and lower than expected rates of expansion in label and wristband products. Additionally, 2% of the unit decline related to the lack of an additional week in 2010 as compared with 2009.

The decrease in pricing in 2010 is primarily the result of an increase in discounts related to new customers acquired as a result of new GPO agreements, as well as other new customers.

<u>Cost of sales</u>: Cost of sales decreased in 2010 due to units from lower sales volume. Material prices increased approximately 1%; however, lower production expenses realized from our cost reduction initiatives more than offset these costs. As a result, the gross margin percentage for 2010 remained consistent with 2009 despite lower revenue.

<u>Operating income</u>: Operating income was down \$3.0 million in 2010 compared with 2009. The decline resulted from lower sales volume and higher SG&A costs. Compensation-related selling expenses declined substantially in 2010 from sales optimization initiatives implemented as a result of our structured cost improvement processes. However, these savings were offset by planned investments in technology sales and product management costs.

2009 compared to **2008**

<u>Revenue</u>: Throughout 2009, we saw our existing customers restrict spending and delay capital projects which negatively impacted units. Unit declines began improving in the second half of 2009 as a result of increases in our customer base, increased sales within our existing customer base for certain growth-targeted products, and higher customer retention rates. We attributed these positive trends to a more focused sales effort as a result of our vertical market strategy.

Pricing on the supply side stabilized during 2009, leading to less price increases passed on to customers as the year progressed. At the same time, price pressures from our customers continued to intensify as they focused on cost reductions. As part of our supplier agreements with GPOs, we provide specified discounts to customers that are members of these organizations. Accordingly, pricing with various member customers decreased in 2009. All of these factors resulted in an overall decline in pricing for 2009.

<u>Cost of sales</u>: Cost of sales declined in 2009 primarily related to the decline in units as a result of lower sales volume. The net price decrease consisted of a 3% decrease due to lower production costs realized from our cost reduction initiatives offset by an increase of 2% resulting from increases in our material costs. The gross margin percentage remained relatively consistent in 2009 compared with 2008 due in large part to success in our cost containment initiatives.

<u>Operating income</u>: Operating income declined \$3.0 million in 2009 compared with 2008. Despite declines in volume, the percentage of operating income to revenue was consistent with 2008 as a result of reductions in SG&A expenses attributable to our cost reduction actions taken in 2008 and 2009.

Outlook

We are currently the only document management company to have agreements with the five largest GPOs. During 2010, we continued our focus on increasing market share by signing new GPO agreements that will secure our existing revenue base and increase opportunities to extend our market share in traditional product lines. Additionally, some of the new agreements contain provisions that create new opportunities for expanding our growth-targeted patient identification solutions. We also entered into strategic partnerships that will allow us to expand our patient identification solutions in the U.S. and the United Kingdom.

We expect demand for administrative forms to continue to decline approximately 10% per year. However, with continued focus on our customer needs and commitment to developing innovative solutions, we expect increased revenue for the Healthcare segment in 2011, with double-digit increases in patient information solutions.

Financial Services

Our Financial Services segment operates in a market where advancing technologies and changing regulatory requirements continue to transform the products and services desired by our customers. The unstable economic conditions in 2009 and 2010 have also particularly impacted financial services customers leading to consolidations within the industry, intense customer focus on cost reductions, and highly competitive conditions. These factors have also led to an increase in the adoption of digital technologies further impacting demand and prices for traditional print products.

During 2010, we utilized our extensive experience to continue to develop our product portfolio and address the changing needs of this market. We expanded sales to existing customers in marketing solutions and also began to expand our customer base. However, although the economy in general improved in 2010, financial services

institutions continued to struggle as economic conditions within this market still remain weak.

As a result, excluding the extra week of revenue of \$2.4 million in 2009, Financial Services revenue declined \$15.2 million or 8% in 2010 compared with 2009. Expansion of solutions to existing customers and acquisition of new customers increased revenue approximately 4%. However, these gains were outpaced by declines primarily driven by weak economic conditions, continued technological erosion in traditional product sales, and fewer one-time orders in 2010 as compared with 2009.

In 2009, revenue declined \$31.6 million or 14% compared with 2008, despite the extra week of revenue in 2009. We estimate that weak economic conditions accounted for approximately 75% of this decline due to bank consolidations, reduced demand, and pricing concessions. Declines were most significant in our specialized print solutions, customer communication solutions, and digital print solutions; while revenue increased in our marketing solutions. Financial services customers aggressively sought price reductions and also in-sourced products as a means for eliminating costs. The remainder of the revenue decline was primarily attributable to the continued adoption of technology. We believe weak economic conditions were a major factor, as customers focused on costs reductions and considered existing technologies as a way to create efficiencies or reduce costs during this time.

The following table details the estimated changes in revenue and cost of sales due to units, price, and mix for 2010 and 2009 (includes 53 weeks).

	Revenu	Revenue Change		les Change
	2010	2009	2010	2009
Units	-9%	-15%	-8%	-13%
Price	-	1%	-4%	-2%
Mix	-	-	2%	-
	-9%	-14%	-10%	-15%

2010 compared to **2009**

<u>Revenue</u>: Although we increased our customer base slightly and expanded sales to existing customers, units were lower in 2010. The lack of an extra week in 2010 as compared with 2009 resulted in a 1% decline in units. We also continued to see the effects of the significant erosion in volume with a few customers that occurred during 2009, although the rate of decline was lessened in the last half of the year by growth from new customers as we began to see positive effects from our go-to-market strategy.

<u>Cost of sales</u>: Cost of sales decreased due to units as a result of lower sales volume in 2010 as compared with 2009. The decrease attributable to price was primarily driven by our internal cost reduction initiatives and restructuring plans. These reductions were partially offset by increased costs related to product mix resulting from our go-to-market strategy for marketing solutions. Some of these solutions are lower-margin products that are primarily outsourced at a higher cost than internally-produced products. As a result, the gross margin percentage in 2010 improved only slightly as compared with 2009.

<u>Operating income</u>: Operating income decreased by \$0.5 million in 2010 compared with 2009, due primarily to planned increases in selling and administrative expenses related to business development activities and improvements in our infrastructure during the first half of 2010. Increased costs were offset somewhat by lower commissions on reduced revenue and cost savings realized from our cost reduction initiatives taken in 2008 and 2009.

2009 compared to **2008**

<u>Revenue:</u> Units declined in 2009 primarily as a result of a depressed economy and the continued technological erosion of revenue in our traditional print products. Pricing remained positive in 2009 due to price increases for the pass-through of material costs. However, as our material pricing stabilized in 2009, pricing concessions to our customers trended higher, partially offsetting gains from the pass-through of our material costs.

<u>Cost of sales</u>: Cost of sales declined in 2009 as compared with 2008 primarily due to units. We realized production cost savings, largely in compensation and supply chain costs, of approximately 3% due to our cost reduction initiatives in 2008. These savings were offset slightly by an increase in material costs of approximately 1%, resulting in a net decrease in pricing. As a result, the gross margin percentage increased from 28.1% in 2008 to 29.1% in 2009.

<u>Operating income</u>: As a percentage of revenue, operating income improved slightly in 2009. The improvement reflects the realized savings in cost of sales and SG&A expenses resulting from our cost reduction initiatives and restructuring actions.

Outlook

Our strategy is to continue addressing the needs of the financial services market for revenue growth, security and regulatory compliance, and improved operations efficiencies. To do so, we are utilizing our extensive experience within the financial services market, enterprise print management expertise, document security capabilities, and national manufacturing and warehousing footprint to provide new, innovative solutions. While we project that declines in the demand for traditional print products may continue at a rate of approximately 10%, we expect to continue to expand our market share and grow our marketing, digital print, and customer communications solutions to offset these declines.

Commercial Markets

Our Commercial Markets segment also operates in a market being affected by digital advances. Customer adoption of digital technologies has reduced demand in traditional print products creating excess capacity and increased price competition, while at the same time creating new opportunities for print-on-demand and digital-based products. Additionally, products sold in this segment are heavily weighted toward customer spending on transactional documents, training, advertising, and payroll services. Therefore, a strong correlation exists between the demand for most of our products and the economic conditions within the market and unemployment rates.

28

During 2010, economic conditions improved, and we continued to focus on our customers needs and the development of new solutions. These efforts resulted in more stabilized revenue as we extended solutions to existing customers and began expanding our customer base. However, intense price competition and continued technological erosion in our traditional print products led to a revenue decline of \$2.0 million or 1%, excluding the extra week of revenue in 2009 of approximately \$2.2 million.

In 2009, revenue for our Commercial Markets segment declined \$31.4 million or 16% compared with 2008, with the extra week of revenue lessening the overall decline from year to year. We attribute weak economic conditions to approximately half of the overall decline. Throughout much of 2009, downward pressures on demand steadily increased in response to the downturn in the economy and the resulting high unemployment rates and customer focus on cost reduction.

The following table details the estimated changes in revenue and cost of sales due to units, price, and mix for 2010 and 2009 (includes 53 weeks).

	Revenue	Revenue Change		lles Change
	2010	2009	2010	2009
Units	2%	-13%	1%	-10%
Price	-4%	-3%	-4%	-2%
Mix	-	-	1%	-
	-2%	-16%	-2%	-12%

2010 compared to **2009**

<u>Revenue:</u> Units increased primarily as a result of improved economic conditions and a small expansion in our customer base. However, this increase was offset by price declines. Intense competition within the industry resulted in higher discounts on new business, as well as with existing customers. Except for forms, labels, and secure documents, revenue increased across all of our products, with increases in marketing solutions being most substantial.

<u>Cost of sales</u>: Cost of sales increased 1% due to units as a result of increased sales volume. Additionally, costs were higher by 1% due to a shift in product mix from some internally produced products to higher-cost outsourced products. These increases were more than offset by lower production costs of approximately 4% resulting from our workforce reductions and other cost reduction initiatives. Despite the overall improvement in cost of sales, the gross margin percentage declined in 2010 as compared with 2009, as pricing concessions in revenue outpaced the cost savings.

<u>Operating loss:</u> Operating loss for 2010 was consistent with 2009 despite lower gross margin and increased administrative expenses related to planned investments in infrastructure in 2010. This was a result of lower selling expenses, primarily due to workforce reductions.

2009 compared to **2008**

<u>Revenue</u>: Unit declines in 2009 were driven primarily by the downturn in the economy and further erosion of demand for traditional print products due to an accelerated rate of adoption of digital technologies. We attribute the increase in adoption of digital technologies to our customers increased focus on cost reductions prompting consideration of existing technologies as a way to create efficiencies and reduce or eliminate costs. Units declined at a lower rate during the second half of 2009 primarily due to increases in our customer base and increased sales in some growth-targeted products.

Pricing steadily declined in 2009 due to the weak economic conditions and lower material price increases passed on to our customers.

<u>Cost of sales</u>: Costs of sales declined in 2009 compared with 2008, primarily the result of unit declines due to the lower sales volume. Additionally, production costs, primarily consisting of compensation and supply chain costs, were reduced by 4% as part of our workforce reductions and other cost reduction initiatives taken in 2008 and 2009. These decreases were offset by an approximate 2% increase in paper costs. A large portion of the unit declines in 2009 were in products with higher gross margin percentages which contributed to the decline in the overall gross margin percentage for the year.

<u>Operating income</u>: Operating income declined from operating income of \$3.3 million in 2008 to an operating loss of (\$4.0) million in 2009. The decline in operating income resulted from the reduction in gross margin offset by SG&A savings of approximately \$6.4 million. The SG&A savings were realized primarily in compensation costs as part of our workforce reduction and other cost reduction initiatives completed in late 2008 and early 2009.

Outlook

Through focusing our efforts on solutions specific to our customers needs and investing in new talent to support our go-to- market strategy, we stabilized revenue in 2010. We expect to continue our efforts in 2011 by expanding in growth-targeted areas such as marketing solutions and customer communication solutions. This expansion is expected to offset projected declines in demand of approximately 5% for certain specialized print solutions. These declines are being driven by the continued advancement and use of digital technologies, which we expect may reduce the use of some of our products and services.

Industrial

During 2010, our Industrial segment realized double digit revenue growth of \$10.9 million or 17%, even though 2009 included an extra week of revenue of approximately \$0.8 million. Throughout the year, we gained momentum in advancing growth-targeted products and increasing market share in printed production parts, while economic conditions also improved from the downturn in 2009. During the second quarter of 2010, we acquired selected assets of Fusion Graphics, Inc. which is expected to enable us to further expand our in-mold product line and result in increased revenues long-term. Building on the Fusion Graphics purchase, we also launched a new in-mold labeling product, Grafilm-Roto late in 2010. This product is expected to meet manufacturer s labeling needs for large plastic products such as storage tanks, kayaks and children s playground equipment.

This segment was particularly affected by the downturn in the economy in 2009, as primary customers are manufacturers of products directly affected by discretionary spending levels of consumers and products supporting the housing industry. As consumer demand retracted in 2009, manufacturers scaled back their production significantly. The reduction in demand for our products led to revenue declines of \$15.1 million in 2009 despite the extra week in revenue in 2009 as compared with 2008. Although outpaced by the economic declines, revenue from new business contracts continued to increase during 2009.

The following table details the estimated changes in revenue and cost of sales due to units and price for 2010 and 2009 (includes 53 weeks). Changes in mix did not materially affect revenue and cost of sales.

	Revenue Change		Cost of Sales Change			
	2010	2009	2010	2009		
Units	14%	-20%	12%	-17%		
Price	3%	1%	1%	2%		
	17%	-19%	13%	-15%		

2010 compared to **2009**

<u>Revenue</u>: The acquisition of new customers and expanded product sales to existing customers contributed significantly to the increase in units during 2010, accounting for approximately 60% of the increase. Improved economic conditions also resulted in increased order levels for many of our customers, which further increased units during 2010.

Pricing increased during 2010 primarily due to the pass-through of material price increases. We expect this trend to continue in 2011.

<u>Cost of sales</u>: Cost of sales increased in 2010 primarily due to increased units as a result of higher sales volume. As volume increased throughout the year, cost absorption rates improved, particularly in our in-mold product line. We

incurred higher material costs of approximately 2% resulting from supplier price increases during 2010. However, we successfully offset a portion of these increases with reduced production costs of approximately 1% resulting from our restructuring and cost reduction initiatives. Due to these cost improvements, the gross margin percentage increased from 27.7% in 2009 to 29.9% in 2010.

<u>Operating income</u>: Improvements in gross margin drove the increase in operating income in 2010. Although, higher administrative costs and increases in selling expenses during 2010 offset some of these gains. Administrative costs increased as part of planned investments in infrastructure and increased costs related to the acquisition of Fusion Graphics. Selling expenses increased due to planned investments in business development activities associated with implementing our go-to-market strategy and higher commissions due to the increase in revenue in 2010.

2009 compared to **2008**

<u>Revenue:</u> The unit declines in 2009 were primarily the result of reduced demand for our products caused by the slowdown in the economy. For the year, we experienced overall declines in all of our major product offerings. In the second half of 2009, we saw a reduction in the number and length of our customer s temporary plant shutdowns. This trend resulted in a minor increase in order levels later in 2009, which helped to slightly lessen the overall unit decline for the year.

Pricing concessions increased and our material prices stabilized in 2009 as a result of the weakened economy. However, overall pricing increased as we more diligently passed through prior year material price increases.

<u>Cost of sales</u>: Cost of sales declined primarily as a result of the significant unit declines in 2009. Costs increased approximately 2% due to material prices. We continued to realize savings from our cost initiatives taken in 2008 of approximately 2%; however, the savings were offset by increased start-up costs associated with our Dayton In-Mold label plant of approximately 3%. As a result, the gross margin percentage declined for 2009.

<u>Operating income</u>: Operating income was down \$3.9 million from an operating profit of \$2.6 million in 2008 to an operating loss of \$1.3 million in 2009. The decrease in gross margin contributed to a decline of \$6.6 million which was offset by decreased SG&A expenses of approximately \$2.7 million. This decrease was primarily related to reduced selling and administrative expenses as a result of our cost reduction actions taken in 2008 and 2009.

Outlook

Our intense focus on our customers — needs and continued development of innovative products led to targeted investments in new talent and capabilities in 2010. We are continuing our path of innovation in 2011 with the development of a new robotics solution, as the use of in-mold labels generally requires robotics. This solution will assist potential customers of in-mold labeling who would like to begin to use in-mold labeling for their product decoration but do not use robotics or automation in their current molding process. These investments, combined with growing customer acceptance for label automation and continued focus on our customers — needs, position this segment for continued growth in 2011, particularly with our in-mold product line.

Total revenue from in-mold label products in 2010 was approximately \$1.8 million compared to \$0.7 million in 2009. We expect revenue from this product line to continue trending higher, with total 2011 revenue projected to be approximately \$11.0 million.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our discussion of liquidity and capital resources will include an analysis of our cash flows and capital structure. This discussion also presents financial measures that are considered non-GAAP. Because our credit facility is borrowed under a revolving credit agreement which currently permits us to borrow and repay at will up to a balance of \$100 million (subject to limitations related to receivables, inventories, and letters of credit), we take the measure of cash flow performance prior to borrowing or repayment of the credit facility. In effect, we evaluate cash flow and capital structure as the change in net debt (credit facility less cash and cash equivalents).

Cash Flows

The major elements of the Statements of Cash Flows are summarized in the following table, followed by an analysis of the items affecting these elements:

2010		20	009	2008	
\$	48.1	\$	54.4	\$	68.9
	(4.1)		3.6		17.1
	(5.4)		(9.9)		(2.3)
	(24.0)		(20.6)		(20.0)
	(2.8)		(8.3)		(2.1)
	11.8		19.2		61.6
	(8.4)		(8.8)		(17.3)
	(2.5)		-		-
	0.4		0.6		0.1
	(10.5)		(8.2)		(17.2)
	4.0		2.0		(18.3)
	(1.5)		(0.2)		(0.1)
	(5.8)		(11.0)		(26.5)
	0.2		0.2		0.3
	(3.1)		(9.0)		(44.6)
	(0.1)		0.1		(0.2)
\$	(1.9)	\$	2.1	\$	(0.4)
	(4.0)		(2.0)		18.3
\$	(5.9)	\$	0.1	\$	17.9
	\$ \$	\$ 48.1 (4.1) (5.4) (24.0) (2.8) 11.8 (8.4) (2.5) 0.4 (10.5) 4.0 (1.5) (5.8) 0.2 (3.1) (0.1) \$ (1.9)	\$ 48.1 \$ (4.1) (5.4) (24.0) (2.8) 11.8 (8.4) (2.5) 0.4 (10.5) 4.0 (1.5) (5.8) 0.2 (3.1) (0.1) \$ (1.9) \$	\$ 48.1 \$ 54.4 (4.1) 3.6 (5.4) (9.9) (24.0) (20.6) (2.8) (8.3) 11.8 19.2 (8.4) (8.8) (2.5) - 0.4 0.6 (10.5) (8.2) 4.0 2.0 (1.5) (0.2) (5.8) (11.0) 0.2 (5.8) (11.0) 0.2 (3.1) (9.0) (0.1) \$ (1.9) \$ 2.1 (4.0) (2.0)	\$ 48.1 \$ 54.4 \$ (4.1) 3.6 (5.4) (9.9) (24.0) (20.6) (2.8) (8.3) 11.8 19.2 (8.4) (8.8) (2.5) - 0.4 0.6 (10.5) (8.2) 4.0 2.0 (1.5) (0.2) (5.8) (11.0) 0.2 0.2 (3.1) (9.0) (0.1) \$ (1.9) \$ 2.1 \$ (4.0) (2.0)

⁽¹⁾ Includes deferred compensation and non-qualified pension payments and changes in other non-current assets and liabilities.

Operating activities

Cash provided by operations in 2010 decreased compared with 2009 primarily due to a decline in net income adjusted for non-cash items. This decrease was partially offset by lower restructuring payments and cash received from the deferred compensation trust of approximately \$2.3 million. In 2009, cash provided by operations declined as compared with 2008 due to higher restructuring spending, increased payouts for our non-qualified and deferred compensation plans, and lower operating profit due to the decline in sales volume. Restructuring payments were higher in 2009 due to restructuring plans initiated during the third quarter of 2009.

Contributions to the Company s qualified pension plan were \$24.0 million versus \$20.6 million in 2009 and \$20 million in 2008. We have elected to take advantage of the funding relief provisions of the Pension Relief Act of 2010

for our 2010 plan year. Based upon these provisions and current estimates, our minimum funding is estimated to be \$19 million in 2011, with minimum funding requirements in 2012 and 2013 estimated to be \$34 million and \$38 million. We anticipate making contributions in excess of the minimum in 2011 in order to lower required minimum contributions in later years. Therefore, we are estimating that actual cash contributions will be approximately \$30 million in 2011 and 2012 and \$31 million in 2013.

Deferred compensation balances paid to employees and payments of supplementary pension benefits were significantly higher in 2009 due to employees retiring and electing lump sum payments of their benefits during those years.

Investing activities

In 2009 and 2008, we continued to limit our capital spending primarily to projects with higher returns on invested capital and those required to maintain operations, resulting in lower capital expenditures. In 2010, we made strategic investments in our infrastructure and product portfolio, although total capital expenditures in 2010 were consistent with 2009. Part of our investments were in the form of operating and capital lease agreements totaling approximately \$6.3 million for advanced digital workflow equipment integral to developing our product portfolio going forward. Payments under these arrangements will be required over 60 months. We expect capital expenditures to be approximately \$15 million in 2011. We expect to continue to scrutinize capital projects and limit spending to projects required for operations and those with higher returns on invested capital.

In the second quarter of 2010, we purchased selected assets, primarily patents, of Fusion Graphics, Inc. for approximately \$2.5 million. The purchase represents an important part of transforming our product portfolio specifically related to our in-mold product line of our Industrial segment. We expect to continue considering other acquisition opportunities that further expand and improve our product portfolio.

Financing activities

In 2010 and 2009, borrowings increased under our revolving credit facility. Savings from our cost reduction initiatives, lower dividend payments, and reduced capital expenditures allowed us to substantially absorb the lower operating profit and increased payments under our restructuring plans and retirement arrangements. Improved working capital management, cost savings, and relatively low capital expenditures provided available cash to reduce borrowings under our revolving credit facility by \$18.3 million during 2008.

Dividend payments to shareholders were lower in 2010 and 2009 compared with 2008, as our Board of Directors elected to reduce the quarterly dividend from \$0.23 to \$0.05 per share beginning in the second quarter of 2009. This decision was made after giving consideration to the economic environment and the Company s strategy, equity position, and near-term capital needs. The amount of subsequent dividend payments will be determined on a quarter-by-quarter basis. It is our board s opinion that capital preservation and prudent investments in pursuit of our strategy best serves the Company s long-term interests.

Our shareholders equity ended the year at approximately \$44.8 million. Under Ohio law, a company cannot declare a dividend in excess of its Surplus the difference between total shareholders equity and the par value of outstanding shares. Additionally, under Ohio law, dividend payments in excess of Earned Surplus, defined as the sum of retained earnings and accumulated other comprehensive income or losses, are considered a return of capital. Further reductions in the level of shareholders equity could limit our ability to declare dividends in the future or could result in future dividends being classified as a return of capital.

Capital Structure

	2010		2009		2008	
Credit Facility	\$	39.7	\$	35.7	\$	33.7
Less Cash and Cash Equivalents		(0.5)		(2.4)		(0.3)
Net Debt		39.2		33.3		33.4
Capitalized Lease Obligation		3.7		-		-
Loan Payable		0.9		0.2		0.3
Total Debt		43.8		33.5		33.7
Equity		44.8		42.2		35.0

Total Capital	\$ 88.6	\$ 75.7	\$ 68.7
Total Debt:Total Capital	49%	44%	49%
Total Debt:Total Capital on a GAAP basis	<i>50%</i>	46%	49%

Net debt increased in 2010 due to decreases in cash reserves and an increase in borrowings on our Credit Facility. Net debt in 2009 remained relatively consistent with 2008, despite lower operating profit due to the weak economy and higher restructuring costs.

On March 31, 2010, we entered into a new \$100 million four-year senior secured revolving Credit Facility with five banks. The Credit Facility replaced our existing \$100 million revolving credit facility that would have matured in May 2010. As a result, the Credit Facility was classified as a long-term liability in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

The Credit Facility is secured by accounts receivable, inventories, fixed assets, and certain other assets. The Credit Facility contains a fixed charge coverage covenant test that becomes applicable if the sum of available unborrowed credit plus certain cash balances falls below 15% of aggregate commitments or \$11.2 million, whichever is greater.

The Credit Facility provides for the payment of interest on amounts borrowed under London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) contracts and base rate loans. Payment of interest on LIBOR contracts is at an annual rate equal to the LIBOR rate plus 3.00% to 3.50% based on our level of liquidity. Payment of interest on base rate loans is based on the prime rate plus 2.00% to 2.50% based upon our level of liquidity. We are also required to pay a fee on the unused portion of the Credit Facility. Such fee is payable at an annual rate of 50.0 basis points if the unused portion is equal to or less than 50% of the aggregate commitment or 75.0 basis points if the unused portion is greater than 50% of the aggregate commitment.

At year end, we had \$54.2 million available under the Credit Facility.

We believe that the combination of internally-generated funds, available cash reserves, and our Credit Facility will be sufficient to fund our operations, including capital expenditures, dividends, and investments in growth initiatives over the next year. We believe our major long-term cash requirements consist of investing in our growth initiatives aimed at transforming our product portfolio and our pension funding. While we have taken steps to enable us to adequately fund these items, actual amounts required may be higher than estimated due to the uncertainty in determining the exact amounts needed. In our judgment, our strong balance sheet could support additional debt financing.

Item 7A Not applicable

MANAGEMENT S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Standard Register is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In association with the preparation of the Company s annual financial statements, management of the Company has undertaken an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting as of January 2, 2011, based on the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in *Internal Control Integrated Framework*. Management s assessment included an evaluation of the design and testing the operational effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting. Based on the assessment, management has concluded that the Company s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of January 2, 2011.

The Company s independent auditors, Battelle & Battelle LLP, a registered public accounting firm, are appointed by the Audit Committee of the Company s Board of Directors. Battelle & Battelle have audited and reported on the Consolidated Financial Statements of The Standard Register Company and the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting. The reports of the independent auditors are contained in this Form 10-K.

/s/ JOSEPH P. MORGAN, JR

/s/ ROBERT M. GINNAN

Joseph P. Morgan, Jr.

Robert M. Ginnan

President and Chief Executive Officer

Vice President, Treasurer and

March 4, 2011

Chief Financial Officer

March 4, 2011

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders

The Standard Register Company

Dayton, Ohio

We have audited The Standard Register Company and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of January 2, 2011, based on criteria established in *Internal Control-Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Standard Register Company and subsidiaries management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, The Standard Register Company and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of January 2, 2011, based on criteria established in *Internal Control-Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial statements of The Standard Register Company and subsidiaries and our report dated March 4, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion.

/S/ BATTELLE & BATTELLE LLP

Dayton, Ohio

March 4, 2011

36

Item 8 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders

The Standard Register Company

Dayton, Ohio

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of The Standard Register Company and subsidiaries as of January 2, 2011 and January 3, 2010, and the related consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, cash flows, and shareholders equity for each of the three years in the period ended January 2, 2011. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The Standard Register Company and subsidiaries as of January 2, 2011 and January 3, 2010, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 2, 2011, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), The Standard Register Company and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of January 2, 2011, based on criteria established in *Internal Control Integrated Framework* issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 4, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of The Standard Register Company and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting.

/S/ BATTELLE & BATTELLE LLP

Dayton, Ohio

March 4, 2011

37

THE STANDARD REGISTER COMPANY CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Dollars in thousands)

ASSETS	January 2, 2011	January 3, 2010		
CURRENT ASSETS				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 531	\$ 2,404		
Accounts and notes receivable, net	122,308	108,524		
Inventories	29,253	33,625		
Deferred income taxes	11,991	14,425		
Prepaid expense	8,962	10,079		
Total current assets	173,045	169,057		
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT				
Land	2,221	2,008		
Buildings and improvements	65,111	64,628		
Machinery and equipment	181,808	191,512		
Office equipment	165,600	167,622		
Construction in progress	1,431	1,594		
Total	416,171	427,364		
Less accumulated depreciation	342,022	342,036		
Plant and equipment, net	74,149	85,328		
Net assets held for sale	-	412		
Total plant and equipment, net	74,149	85,740		
OTHER ASSETS				
Goodwill	6,557	6,557		
Intangible assets, net	2,265	-		
Deferred tax asset	102,996	104,691		
Other	10,819	13,676		
Total other assets	122,637	124,924		
Total assets	\$ 369,831	\$ 379,721		

See accompanying notes.

THE STANDARD REGISTER COMPANY CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Dollars in thousands)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY	January 2, 2011	January 3, 2010
CURRENT LIABILITIES		
Current portion of long-term debt	\$ 1,467	\$ 35,868
Accounts payable	34,110	32,349
Accrued compensation	15,056	12,091
Accrued restructuring and other exit costs	1,689	5,365
Deferred revenue	2,225	3,213
Other current liabilities	24,216	24,331
Total current liabilities	78,763	113,217
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES		
Long-term debt	42,926	-
Pension benefit obligation	185,174	202,146
Retiree healthcare obligation	4,931	7,425
Deferred compensation	6,306	7,699
Environmental liabilities	3,823	4,808
Other long-term liabilities	3,060	2,272
Total long-term liabilities	246,220	224,350
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - See Note 18		
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Common stock, \$1.00 par value:		
Authorized 101,000,000 shares		
Issued 2010 - 26,227,199; 2009 - 26,129,883	26,227	26,130
Class A stock, \$1.00 par value:		
Authorized - 9,450,000 shares		

Edgar Filing: STANDARD REGISTER CO - Form 10-K

Issued - 4,725,000	4,725	4,725
Capital in excess of par value	63,401	62,888
Accumulated other comprehensive losses	(142,900)	(146,768)
Retained earnings	143,562	145,312
Treasury stock at cost:		
1,996,952 and 1,990,731 shares	(50,167)	(50,133)
Total shareholders' equity	44,848	42,154
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$ 369,831	\$ 379,721

See accompanying notes.

THE STANDARD REGISTER COMPANY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

	52 Weeks Ended January 2, 2011		53 Weeks Ended January 3, 2010		52 Weeks Ended December 28, 2008	
REVENUE	\$	668,377	\$	694,016	\$	791,076
COST OF SALES		454,796		473,446		540,274
GROSS MARGIN		213,581		220,570		250,802
OPERATING EXPENSES						
Selling, general and administrative		204,613		205,270		228,265
Pension settlements and curtailments		370		20,412		(746)
Environmental remediation		(803)		2,513		827
Asset impairments		-		1,176		164
Restructuring and other exit costs		1,733		11,513		5,621
Total operating expenses		205,913		240,884		234,131
INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS		7,668		(20,314)		16,671
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)						
Interest expense		(2,189)		(1,197)		(2,220)
Investment and other income (expense)		(333)		390		285
Total other expense		(2,522)		(807)		(1,935)
INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE		(2,022)		(007)		(1,733)
INCOME TAXES		5,146		(21,121)		14,736
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT)		2,503		(8,724)		7,905
NET INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS		2,643		(12,397)		6,831
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS						
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of \$3 income tax expense		-		-		5
NET INCOME (LOSS)	\$	2,643	\$	(12,397)	\$	6,836
BASIC AND DILUTED INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE						
Income (loss) from continuing operations Gain on sale of discontinued operations	\$	0.09	\$	(0.43)	\$	0.24
Net income (loss) per share	\$	0.09	\$	(0.43)	\$	0.24

Edgar Filing: STANDARD REGISTER CO - Form 10-K

NET INCOME (LOSS)	\$ 2,643	\$ (12,397)	\$ 6,836
Net actuarial gains (losses), net of (\$4,467), \$6,267, and (\$47,950) deferred			
income tax expense (benefit)	(6,781)	9,514	(72,801)
Actuarial loss reclassification, net of (\$7,645), (\$10,875), and (\$8,144) deferred			
income tax benefit	11,606	16,512	12,365
Prior service credit, net of \$979 and \$3,456 deferred income tax benefit	1,486	-	5,248
Prior service credit reclassification, net of \$1,590, \$1,591, and \$1,508 deferred			
income tax expense	(2,415)	(2,415)	(2,289)
Cumulative translation adjustment	(28)	140	(238)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)	\$ 6,511	\$ 11,354	\$ (50,879)

See accompanying notes.

THE STANDARD REGISTER COMPANY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Dollars in thousands)

	52 Weeks Ended January 2, 2011		Jan	eks Ended nuary 3, 2010	52 Weeks Ended December 28, 2008	
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES						
Net income (loss)	\$	2,643	\$	(12,397)	\$	6,836
Adjustments to reconcile net income	·	,		,,	·	-,
(loss) to net						
cash provided by operating activities:						
Depreciation and amortization		23,255		25,044		26,543
Restructuring charges		1,733		11,513		5,621
Pension and postretirement benefit		14,454		32,320		19,879
expense						
Deferred tax expense (benefit)		1,560		(8,724)		6,654
Other		4,483		6,613		3,399
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of						
effects from dispositions and acquisitions:						
Accounts and notes receivable		(14,504)		3,715		16,876
Inventories		4,480		5,093		6,633
Restructuring spending		(5,409)		(9,872)		(2,302)
Accounts payable and accrued		5,912		(5,190)		(6,353)
expenses						
Pension and postretirement contributions and payments		(27,801)		(28,181)		(23,895)
Deferred compensation payments		(2,415)		(2,374)		(1,006)
Other assets and liabilities		3,397		1,614		2,769
Net cash provided by operating		11,788		19,174		61,654
activities						
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES						
Additions to plant and equipment		(8,403)		(8,844)		(17,330)
Proceeds from sale of equipment		359		634		164
Acquisition		(2,464)		-		-

Edgar Filing: STANDARD REGISTER CO - Form 10-K

Net cash used in investing activities		(10,508)		(8,210)	(17,166)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES					
Net change in borrowings under revolving credit facility		4,019		2,010	(18,308)
Principal payments on long-tem debt		(1,477)		(159)	(180)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock		187		239	415
Dividends paid		(5,807)		(11,026)	(26,540)
Purchase of treasury stock		(34)		(38)	(60)
Net cash used in financing activities		(3,112)		(8,974)	(44,673)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash		(41)		132	(230)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		(1,873)		2,122	(415)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year		2,404		282	697
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR	\$	531	\$	2,404	\$ 282
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES					
Cash paid during the year for:					
Interest	\$	2,132	\$	1,250	\$ 2,376
Income taxes (refunded) paid		(1,010)		567	982
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NACTIVITIES	NONCA	SH INVESTIN	G AND FINAN	NCING	
Capital lease recorded for equipment	\$	4,384	\$	-	\$ -
Loan payable recorded for professional services		1,598		-	-
Loan payable recorded in connection with purchase of software		-		-	478
Note receivable recorded in connection with sale of plant and equipment		-		950	-

See accompanying notes.

THE STANDARD REGISTER COMPANY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (Dollars in thousands)

	52 Weeks Ended January 2, 2011			Veeks Ended anuary 3, 2010	52 Weeks Ended December 28, 2008	
COMMON STOCK						
Beginning balance	\$	26,130	\$	26,044	\$	25,979
Dividend reinvestment plan		50		52		47
Issuance of vested shares		47		34		18
Ending balance	\$	26,227	\$	26,130	\$	26,044
CLASS A STOCK	\$	4,725	\$	4,725	\$	4,725
CAPITAL IN EXCESS OF PAR VALUE						
Beginning balance	\$	62,888	\$	61,304	\$	60,318
Stock option compensation expense		1,017		973		447
Compensation expense for nonvested shares		874		458		293
Dividend reinvestment plan		137		187		368
Dividends declared, \$.05 per share		(1,468)		-		-
Other		(1,100)		_		(104)
Issuance of vested shares		(47)		(34)		(18)
Ending balance	\$	63,401	\$	62,888	\$	61,304
ACCUMULATED OTHER	4	00,101	Ψ	= ,000	Ψ	01,00.
COMPREHENSIVE LOSSES						
Beginning balance	\$	(146,768)	\$	(170,519)	\$	(112,804)
Cumulative translation adjustment		(28)		140		(238)
Change in net actuarial losses		4,825		26,026		(60,436)
Change in net prior service credit		(929)		(2,415)		2,959
Ending balance	\$	(142,900)	\$	(146,768)	\$	(170,519)
RETAINED EARNINGS						
Beginning balance	\$	145,312	\$	163,510	\$	183,196
Net income (loss)		2,643		(12,397)		6,836
Dividends declared, \$.15 per share in 2010, \$.20 per share						
in 2009, and \$.92 per share in 2008		(4,393)		(5,801)		(26,522)
Ending balance	\$	143,562	\$	145,312	\$	163,510

Edgar Filing: STANDARD REGISTER CO - Form 10-K

TREASURY STOCK AT COST

Beginning balance	\$ (50,133)	\$ (50,095)	\$ (50,035)
Treasury stock acquired	(34)	(38)	(60)
Ending balance	\$ (50,167)	\$ (50,133)	\$ (50,095)
Total shareholders' equity	\$ 44,848	\$ 42,154	\$ 34,969

See accompanying notes.

THE STANDARD REGISTER COMPANY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Standard Register Company is a recognized leader in the healthcare, financial services, commercial, and industrial markets. Our products and services include traditional print, print on demand, labels, and distribution, technology, and other services.

The accounting policies that affect the more significant elements of our financial statements are summarized below.

Principles of Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of The Standard Register Company and its wholly-owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries (collectively, the Company) after elimination of intercompany transactions, profits, and balances.

Fiscal Year

Our fiscal year is the 52- or 53-week period ending the Sunday nearest to December 31. Fiscal years 2010, 2009, and 2008, ended on January 2, 2011, January 3, 2010, and December 28, 2008. Fiscal year 2009 included 53 weeks and fiscal years 2010 and 2008 each included 52 weeks.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The accounting estimates and assumptions that place the most significant demands on our judgment include, but are not limited to: pension benefit plan assumptions; fair value measurements; deferred taxes; inventories; environmental liabilities; and revenue recognition. These estimates and assumptions are based on information presently available and actual results could differ from those estimates.

Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at the current exchange rate in effect at the end of the fiscal period. Income statement amounts are translated at the average monthly exchange rates in effect during the period. Adjustments resulting from the translation of financial statements denominated in foreign currencies are charged or credited directly to shareholders—equity and shown as cumulative translation adjustments in other comprehensive income. Realized gains and losses from transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in other income and are not material.

Cash Equivalents

All highly-liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less are classified as cash equivalents.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Receivables are stated net of allowances for doubtful accounts.

Trade receivables are uncollateralized customer obligations due under normal trade terms requiring payment generally within 30 days from the invoice date. Our estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts for trade receivables is primarily determined based on the length of time the receivables are past due. In addition, estimates are used to determine probable losses based upon an analysis of prior collection experience, specific account risks, and economic conditions. We have a series of actions that occur based upon the aging of past-due trade receivables, including letters, statements, and direct customer contact. Accounts are deemed uncollectible based on past experience and current financial condition.

Notes receivable are stated at the principal amount with interest accrued when considered collectible. An allowance for uncollectible notes receivable is recorded for probable losses based upon an analysis of prior collection experience, specific account risks, and economic conditions.

Bad debt expense was \$1,351, \$1,343, and \$468 in 2010, 2009, and 2008.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. A significant portion of inventory costs is determined by the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method. The use of the LIFO method results in a better matching of current costs with current revenues. Under the LIFO method, the cost assigned to items sold is based on the cost of the most recent items purchased. As a result, the costs of the first items purchased remain in inventory and are used to value ending inventory. We also subcontract, store, and later distribute finished products to fulfill certain customer orders. Such subcontracted inventories are recorded at cost on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis.

Long-Lived Assets

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Costs of normal maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred. Upon the disposition of assets, their cost and related depreciation are removed from the respective accounts, and the resulting gain or loss is included in current income.

Plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of assets may not be recoverable. We first evaluate recoverability of assets to be held and used by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to undiscounted expected future cash flows to be generated by the assets. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment amount is then calculated using a fair-value-based test that compares the fair value of the asset to its carrying value. Assets held for sale, if any, are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

Depreciation

For financial reporting purposes, depreciation is computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the depreciable assets. Depreciation expense was \$23,155, \$24,498, and \$25,736 in 2010, 2009, and 2008 and includes amortization of assets recorded under capital lease arrangements. Estimated useful lives range from 15-40 years for buildings and improvements; 5-15 years for machinery and equipment; and 3-15 years for office furniture and equipment.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price paid over the value of net assets of businesses acquired and is not amortized. Intangible assets with determinable lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life. Goodwill is evaluated for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if impairment indicators arise, using a fair-value-based test that compares the fair value of the asset to its carrying value.

Software Development Costs

Costs incurred during the application development stage and implementation stage in developing, purchasing, or otherwise acquiring software for internal use and website development costs are capitalized and amortized over a period of five years. Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred. The carrying value of capitalized internal use software is included in Plant and Equipment in our Consolidated Balance Sheets and totaled \$12,767 at January 2, 2011 and \$16,794 at January 3, 2010. These amounts are related to production, invoicing, and warehousing systems; customer interface portals and account management tools; and system management, security, and desktop applications.

Fair Value Measurements

Our pension plan assets are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis, while other assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value on a nonrecurring basis, generally as a result of impairment charges. Assets and liabilities measured at fair

value are classified using the following hierarchy, which is based on the inputs to the valuation and gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs:

Level 1 Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data

Level 3 Unobservable inputs that reflect our own assumptions that are not corroborated by market data.

44

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when all of the following criteria are met:
•
Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists
•
Delivery has occurred or services have been performed
•
The fee is fixed or determinable, and
•
Collectability is reasonably assured.
Product Revenue
Revenue is generally recognized when products are shipped to the customer, title and risks of ownership have passed to the customer, and all significant obligations have been satisfied. Under contractual arrangements with certain customers, we print and store custom forms for future delivery. Such products are stored in our warehouses and remain in our inventory. Under these arrangements, title and risk of ownership remain with us until the product is shipped to the customer. At that time, the customer is invoiced and product revenue is recognized. Because the majority of products are customized, product returns are not significant.
Service Revenue
Service revenue primarily includes distribution services, professional services and other consulting, design services, and software postcontract support. We generally recognize service revenue as the services are performed.
Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables
When a customer arrangement involves multiple deliverables, we evaluate all deliverables to determine whether they represent separate units of accounting based on the following criteria:
•
Whether the delivered item has value to the customer on a standalone basis;

Whether objective and reliable evidence exists for the fair value of the undelivered item; and

94

If the arrangement includes a general right of return relative to the delivered item, whether delivery or performance of the undelivered item is considered probable and is substantially in our control.

If objective and reliable evidence of fair value exists for all units of accounting in the arrangement, revenue is allocated to each unit of accounting based on relative fair values. Where objective and reliable evidence exists as to the fair value for all undelivered items, but not for the delivered items, the residual method is used to allocate the consideration. Under the residual method, the amount of revenue allocated to the delivered items equals the total arrangement consideration less the aggregate fair value of any undelivered items. Each unit of accounting is then accounted for under the applicable revenue recognition guidance. When fair value cannot be established, the arrangement is accounted for as one unit of accounting and revenue is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract period.

The determination of whether deliverables within a multiple element arrangement can be treated separately for revenue recognition purposes involves significant estimates and judgment, such as whether fair value can be established on undelivered obligations and whether delivered items have standalone value to the customer. Changes to our assessment of the accounting units in a multiple deliverable arrangement or the ability to establish fair values could change the timing of revenue recognition.

We have two types of multiple deliverable arrangements as described below.

Product Revenue with Distribution Services - For customers who want a just-in-time delivery service of long-run, custom-printed documents, we provide distribution services that deliver the product at specified times, locations, and quantities requested by the customer. The distribution services incorporate warehousing storage and custom delivery options. In addition to the product revenue, we receive a distribution service fee for the services we provide. Under these contractual arrangements, at the customer s request we print and store custom forms for the customer s specified future delivery. Such products are stored in our warehouses and are not used to fill other customers orders. For these products, manufacturing is complete, the finished product is not included in our inventory, and title and risk of loss have transferred to the customer. In these transactions, the customer is invoiced under normal billing and credit terms and revenue is recognized when the product is placed in the warehouse for storage.

If requested by the customer, the distribution service fee is invoiced separately and recognized as distribution service revenue. However, in many arrangements, the fee is combined, or bundled, into the price of the product. We have concluded that the accounting criteria to separate the product and service elements have been met. Fair value for the distribution services is based on price lists and custom quoting templates used to establish a customer profile that determines the amount of distribution services revenue (stated as a percentage of the total consideration) that is allocated to all orders for a particular customer. Revenue from distribution services under these arrangements is deferred and recognized proportionally when the product is shipped from the warehouse to the customer.

Since the product is primarily custom-printed documents, there is not sufficient objective and reliable evidence of fair value and the amount of revenue allocated to the product is determined using the residual method. Under this method, the product revenue equals the total amount of consideration received for the arrangement less the revenue allocated to the distribution services and continues to be recognized when the product is placed in storage.

Software We generate revenue from licensing the rights to software products to end users. These licenses are generally sold as perpetual licenses. We generally license our software in combination with professional services and post-contract customer support (PCS) which includes telephone assistance and software problem corrections. Under these multiple deliverable arrangements, revenue is allocated to the separate elements based on vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE) of the fair value of each undelivered element in the arrangement. Fair value for ongoing PCS is based upon established renewal rates and the related service revenue is deferred and subsequently recognized ratably over the term of the support agreement. Fair value for professional services associated with licensing the software, such as training, software installation, building simple interfaces, and consulting services such as implementation support, forms design and system configuration, is based upon rates charged to customers when these services are sold in separate transactions. Revenue for these professional services is recognized either on the completed contract method or when specific milestones are reached. Our software is generally not sold on a stand-alone basis; and therefore we cannot establish VSOE. The amount of revenue allocated to the software revenue equals the total amount of consideration received for the arrangement less the revenue allocated to PCS and professional services.

When we are unable to establish VSOE for the professional services, we use the combined services approach. The entire arrangement is accounted for as one unit of accounting, and revenue is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the longer of the PCS period or the period the professional services are expected to be performed. When the professional services are complete, the software has been delivered, and the only remaining undelivered element is the PCS, the deferred revenue is adjusted to reflect only the remaining post contract support amount.

We also have entered into certain multiple deliverable arrangements to license software where VSOE cannot be established for any of the undelivered service elements. These arrangements are accounted for as one unit of accounting, and revenue is deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis as the services are performed, which typically ranges from one to five years.

Shipping and Handling Fees

Shipping and handling fees billed to customers are recorded as revenue, and shipping and handling costs paid to vendors are recorded as cost of sales.

Sales Taxes

Taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are recorded on a net basis (excluded from revenues) in our Consolidated Statements of Income.

Research and Development

Research and development costs relate to the development of new products and to the improvement of existing products and services and are charged to expense as incurred. These efforts are entirely company sponsored. Total research and development costs were \$4,867, \$5,200, and \$4,930 in 2010, 2009, and 2008.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of liabilities and assets, using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding and common equivalent shares from stock options and nonvested shares using the treasury method, except when anti-dilutive.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Losses

Other comprehensive losses include any revenues, expenses, gains and losses that are excluded from net income and recognized directly as a component of shareholders equity. Components of accumulated other comprehensive losses, net of deferred taxes, include the following:

	2010	2009	2008
Net actuarial loss	\$ (156,412)	\$ (161,237)	\$ (187,263)
Net prior service credit	13,638	14,567	16,982
Foreign currency translation	(126)	(98)	(238)
Total	\$ (142,900)	\$ (146,768)	\$ (170,519)

Reclassifications

Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current-year presentation.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009, Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2009-13 amended the revenue recognition standards related to non-software multiple-element revenue arrangements. The amended standard requires the allocation of the overall consideration to each deliverable based on its estimated selling price in the absence of other objective evidence of selling prices. The update is effective for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified beginning in fiscal 2011. We are in the process of evaluating our revenue recognition for these types of revenue arrangements, but have not yet determined the effect this standard will have on either the classification of revenue or the timing of revenue recognition.

NOTE 2 ACQUISITIONS

In June 2010, we purchased the assets of Fusion Graphics, Inc. for approximately \$2,500 in cash. The assets acquired primarily consist of intellectual property related to the Grafilm In-Mold Labeling System that will be utilized by our Industrial segment for our in-mold label product line. The purchase price was allocated based on the estimated fair value of the assets acquired; \$2,262 was assigned to several patents, \$100 was assigned to a non-compete agreement, and the balance was assigned to working capital accounts. The patents are being amortized on a straight-line basis over 15 years and the non-compete agreement is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the agreement which is 5 years.

NOTE 3 ITEMS DISCLOSED AT FAIR VALUE

We have financial assets and liabilities that are not recorded at fair value but which require disclosure of their fair value. The carrying value of cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the short-term maturity of these instruments and is not material. We believe the carrying value of outstanding amounts under our secured revolving credit facility and capital lease obligation approximate fair value based on currently available market rates.

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk principally consist of cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables. Cash and cash equivalents are placed with high-credit quality financial institutions. Our credit risk, with respect to trade receivables, is limited in management s opinion due to industry and

geographic diversification. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts to cover estimated credit losses.

NOTE 4 RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER EXIT COSTS

All costs related to restructuring actions are included in restructuring and other exit costs in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. Components include the following:

	2010	2009	2008
2009 Plans			
Involuntary termination costs	\$ (213)	\$ 3,615	\$ -
Contract exit and termination costs	1,025	361	-
Other associated exit costs	848	7,223	-
Total 2009	1,660	11,199	-
2008 Plans			
Involuntary termination costs	-	(453)	4,232
Contract exit and termination costs	35	229	843
Other associated exit costs	38	538	515
Total 2008	73	314	5,590
2007 Plans			
Other associated exit costs	-	-	31
Total 2007	-	-	31
Total	\$ 1,733	\$ 11,513	\$ 5,621

Under our current operating model, the majority of our manufacturing, warehousing, and distribution activities are managed under a shared-services model and are therefore not specific to a particular reportable segment. Additionally, we still maintain certain other corporate functions that also are not attributable to a specific reportable segment. As a result, none of our restructuring or exit activities are reported under any segment, and are all attributable to corporate and other shared services.

2009 Plans

In 2009, we launched a company-wide review of business practices and growth acceleration opportunities designed around the priorities of client satisfaction, cost reduction, and increased market coverage. As a result, we implemented a restructuring plan and numerous organizational improvements to simplify business, move closer to the customer, grow revenue, and improve overall efficiency of our business.

During the latter part of 2009 and throughout 2010, we have:

•

Optimized our manufacturing footprint by investing in regional Print On Demand Centers, scaling down local Print On Demand Centers, closing certain production and distribution centers, improving our supply chain, and simplifying processes

•

Proactively addressed the movement to digital technologies and managed working capital more effectively by moving to more on-demand based production, which has lowered our inventory and warehousing requirements

•

Repositioned and refined our go-to-market organization to capture revenue growth in core markets

•

Invested in system enhancements making it easier to serve customers

•

Employed strategic procurement processes and systems that leverage vendor relationships company- wide.

We expect to continue implementation through 2011; however, the majority of our plans were completed in 2010. When fully implemented, we expect to achieve cost savings between \$30,000 and \$40,000, on an annual run-rate basis compared with the fourth quarter of 2009, through a combination of workforce reduction, strategic closure of production and distribution facilities, and other efficiency initiatives. We expect to have involuntary termination costs of \$3,450 for severance and outplacement services; contract termination costs of \$2,600 for leased facilities; and other associated costs of \$8,600 primarily for fees to the third party that assisted with the development and implementation of our plan and for costs to relocate equipment and inventory. In 2010, we reversed \$492 of previously accrued severance and contract termination costs due to lower than expected costs.

48

Components of 2009 restructuring and other exit costs consist of the following:

	Total Expected		Total 2010		Cumulative		
					To	-Date	
	Costs			Expense		Expense	
Involuntary termination costs	\$	3,450	\$	(213)	\$	3,402	
Contract termination costs		2,600		1,025		1,386	
Other associated exit costs		8,600		848		8,071	
Total	\$	14,650	\$	1,660	\$	12,859	

A summary of the 2009 accrual activity is as follows:

	Accrued	Incurred	Balance	Accrued	Incurred	Reversed	Balance
	in 2009	in 2009	2009	in 2010	in 2010	in 2010	2010
Involuntary termination costs	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
	3,611	(199)	3,412	63	(2,212)	(385)	878
Contract termination costs	361	-	361	1,079	(522)	(107)	811
Other associated exit costs	6,900	(5,600)	1,300	-	(1,300)	-	-
Total	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$	\$
	10,872	(5,799)	5,073	1,142	(4,034)	(492)	1,689

2008 Plans

In 2008, we initiated several actions in order to create efficiencies and reduce costs. We closed two print centers and one distribution center and integrated two other print centers with distribution warehouses. This move was in response to a changing product mix away from traditional short-run offset to increased print on demand and allowed us to reduce operating expenses by leveraging more cross-functional roles in production and distribution. All of the actions are complete.

We also redesigned our client support infrastructure to more of a centralized model. We transitioned customer transactional and administrative functions from our field sales offices to one of three client satisfaction centers. The overall benefit of the change is an optimized client support model along with significant annualized cost savings.

Lastly, we eliminated approximately 175 positions throughout the Company in response to revenue declines, soft industry demand for some traditional printed products, and weak economic conditions.

The majority of costs were incurred in 2008. Restructuring and other exit costs in 2010 and 2009 primarily relate to costs associated with the planned closing of facilities that are required to be expensed as incurred and a reversal of \$583 in 2009 for lower than expected involuntary termination costs. We do not expect any additional costs related to this restructuring plan.

Components of 2008 restructuring and other exit costs consist of the following:

	Total Expected Costs			Total 2010 Expense		Cumulative To-Date Expense	
Involuntary termination costs	\$	3,779	\$	-	\$	3,779	
Contract termination costs		1,107		35		1,107	
Other associated exit costs		1,091		38		1,091	
Total	\$	5,977	\$	73	\$	5,977	

A summary of the 2008 accrual activity is as follows:

	Ba	lance	Acc	rued	Re	versed	Incurred	Bal	ance	Inc	curred	Balar	ıce
	2	008	in 2	2009	in	2009	in 2009	20	009	in	2010	<i>201</i>	0
Involuntary termination costs	\$	3,206	\$	8	\$	(583)	\$ (2,471)	\$	160	\$	(160)	\$	-
Contract termination costs		517		319		(90)	(614)		132		(132)		-
Total	\$	3,723	\$	327	\$	(673)	\$ (3,085)	\$	292	\$	(292)	\$	_

NOTE 5 - ASSET IMPAIRMENTS

In 2009, we held a trademark valued at \$1,000 associated with our consulting and print-asset optimization product line, which was part of our shared services organization. In the second quarter of 2009, we received an offer to purchase certain assets related to this product line which indicated the value of the assets should be evaluated for impairment. Accordingly, we performed an evaluation of the recoverability of the trademark value; an annual test that was otherwise scheduled for the fourth quarter of 2009. The impairment test required us to compare the fair value of the trademark with its carrying amount.

To determine fair value, we considered the cost, market, and income approaches. We determined that the cost method would not yield a representative value at which market participants would transact and that observable market data was not available without undue cost; therefore, these methods were not utilized. Our evaluation followed an income approach that utilized discounted future cash flow analyses. Inherent in our fair value determinations are certain judgments and estimates relating to future cash flows, including interpretation of current economic indicators and market conditions, overall economic conditions, and our strategic operational plans. In connection with preparing the impairment assessment, our change in strategic direction and investment caused deterioration in the expected future financial performance of the product line compared to the expected future financial performance at the end of fiscal 2008. Based on the results of our evaluation, we recorded a non-cash impairment charge to write down the trademark by \$850, which is included in Asset Impairments in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. As a result of the write down, the value of the trademark was reduced to \$150 as of June 28, 2009 and was considered a Level 3 fair value measurement. The trademark was subsequently sold in the third quarter of 2009.

With the income approach, cash flows that are anticipated over several years, plus a terminal value at the end of that period, are discounted to their present value using an estimated weighted-average cost of capital. The most critical inputs used were the revenue and cost assumptions, the terminal value assumed, and the discount rate applied. We determined that these inputs were unobservable Level 3 inputs. The following describes the significant inputs utilized in our fair value calculations and the information used to develop the inputs:

•

Revenue and cost assumptions: We reviewed all existing customer contracts and the existing pipeline of new opportunities for the applicable product lines. We projected future unidentified customer opportunities using existing pricing practices and sale productivity trends. The customer data was then used to project future revenue over the next five years.

We reviewed historical cost and investment performance, classifying costs into fixed and variable categories and then projected the incremental costs and investments needed to match the revenue projections.

A terminal value was then applied to the cash flow stream based on the year five cash flow. We calculated three outcomes: a most likely, a best case, and a worst case. In addition, we calculated a fourth outcome that considered market data included in the purchase offer to determine the terminal value. All outcomes were weighted to arrive at an overall projected cash flow, with the most probability assigned to the fourth outcome.

•

Discount rate: We used a weighted-average cost of capital that assumed a mix of debt and equity consistent with our current financing structure and investor and lender expectations.

As a result of the 2009 restructuring plan, we conducted an extensive review of our property, plant, and equipment to determine if any assets were impaired. We recorded impairment charges of \$326, the majority of which was related to costs for internal-use software in development that was determined to have no future benefit.

NOTE 6 ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

Accounts and notes receivable consist of the following:

	January 2, 2011			January 3, 2010		
Current:						
Trade receivables	\$	117,300	\$	105,139		
Less allowance for uncollectible receivables		(2,816)		(2,542)		
Net trade receivables		114,484		102,597		
Notes receivable		-		720		
Less allowance for uncollectible receivables		-		(72)		
Net notes receivable		-		648		
Other receivables		7,824		5,279		
Total current receivables	\$	122,308	\$	108,524		
Long-term:						
Notes receivable	\$	1,309	\$	1,309		
Less allowance for uncollectible receivables		(745)		(268)		
Total long-term notes receivable	\$	564	\$	1,041		
Long-term: Notes receivable Less allowance for uncollectible receivables	\$	1,309 (745)	\$	1,309 (268)		

NOTE 7 INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following:

	January 2,		Jar	ıuary 3,
		2011		2010
Finished products	\$	27,005	\$	31,059
Jobs in process		554		388
Materials and supplies		1,694		2,178
Total	\$	29,253	\$	33,625

A significant portion of inventory costs is determined by the LIFO method. Included in finished products is inventory the Company subcontracts, stores, and later distributes to fulfill certain customer orders. This inventory is recorded at cost on a FIFO basis and is excluded from the Company s LIFO calculation. At January 2, 2011 and January 3, 2010, the amount of inventory excluded was \$18,143, and \$20,622.

If the FIFO method had been used to value all inventory, total inventory amounts would have been \$25,315 higher at January 2, 2011, and \$29,087 higher at January 3, 2010.

During 2010 and 2009, inventory quantities declined resulting in liquidations of LIFO inventory layers carried at lower costs prevailing in prior years compared with the cost of current year purchases. The effect of the liquidation

decreased cost of sales by \$5,258 and \$6,354 in 2010 and 2009, and increased net income from continuing operations by \$3,170 or \$.11 per share in 2010 and \$3,831 or \$.13 per share, in 2009.

NOTE 8 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In the second quarter of 2010 and 2009, we performed the annual impairment test for goodwill which did not result in any impairment. In conjunction with performing the goodwill impairment test in 2010, we re-evaluated our identified reporting units and revised our goodwill allocation.

The following table summarizes the revised allocation of goodwill during 2010:

	Healthcare	Financial Services	ommercial Markets	Industrial	Unallocated	Total
Goodwill at January 3, 2010	\$	\$	\$ -	\$	\$	\$
	-	-		-	6,557	6,557
Reallocation of goodwill	2,385	1,743	1,296	1,133	(6,557)	6,557
Goodwill at January 2, 2011	\$	\$	\$ 1,296	\$	\$	\$
	2,385	1,743		1,133	_	6,557

Identifiable intangible assets consist of the following:

	January 2, 2011)		
	Gr	oss			\boldsymbol{G}	ross		
	Carrying Amount			ımulated ortization	Carrying Amount		Accumulated Amortization	
Intangible Assets with Determinable Lives								
Patents	\$	2,916	\$	(739)	\$	650	\$	(650)
Non-compete agreement		100		(12)		-		-
Total	\$	3,016	\$	(751)	\$	650	\$	(650)

Amortization expense for intangible assets was \$101, \$66, and \$109 for 2010, 2009, and 2008. Estimated amortization expense for the next five years is as follows: 2011 through 2014-\$171; 2015-\$159.

NOTE 9 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other current liabilities consist of the following:

	January 2,		Jan	uary 3,	
	2	2011	2010		
Non-income taxes	\$	5,430	\$	5,467	
Current portion of pension and postretirement obligations		3,065		3,408	
Other current liabilities		15,721		15,456	
Total	\$	24,216	\$	24,331	

NOTE 10 LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consists of the following:

	Jan	January 3,		
	2011			2010
Revolving credit facility	\$	39,728	\$	35,709
Capital lease obligation		3,727		-
Loan payable		938		159
Total		44,393		35,868
Less current portion		1,467		35,868
Long-term portion	\$	42,926	\$	-

On March 31, 2010, the Company entered into a \$100,000 four-year senior secured revolving credit facility (Credit Facility) with five banks. The Credit Facility replaced the Company s \$100,000 senior secured revolving credit facility

that would have matured in May 2010.

The Credit Facility is secured by accounts receivable, inventories, fixed assets, and certain other assets. The Credit Facility contains a fixed charge coverage covenant test that becomes applicable if the sum of available unborrowed credit plus certain cash balances falls below 15% of aggregate commitments or \$11,250, whichever is greater.

The Credit Facility provides for the payment of interest on amounts borrowed under both London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) contracts and base rate loans. Payment of interest on LIBOR contracts is at an annual rate equal to the LIBOR rate plus 3.00% to 3.50% based on our level of liquidity. Payment of interest on base rate loans is based on the prime rate plus 2.00% to 2.50% based upon our level of liquidity. The weighted average interest rate, including the spread, was 4.04% at January 2, 2011. Under our previous credit facility as of January 3, 2010, the weighted average interest rate was 1.99%. We are also required to pay a fee on the unused portion of the Credit Facility payable at an annual rate of 50.0 basis points if the unused portion is equal to or less than 50% of the aggregate commitment or 75.0 basis points if the unused portion is greater than 50% of the aggregate commitment. As of January 2, 2011, such fee is payable at an annual rate of 75.0 basis points.

In February 2010, the Company entered into a five-year capital lease for printing equipment. The capital lease has remaining aggregate payments, including interest, of approximately \$4,236. Payments under the lease, including interest, are as follows: 2011-\$1,022; 2012-\$1,022; 2013-\$1,022; 2014-\$1,022; and 2015-\$148. Amortization expense for the capital lease is included with depreciation expense on the Company s consolidated statement of income. We also have an unsecured loan payable, including interest at 6.5%, of \$938 due in monthly installments of approximately \$58, including interest, through April 2012.

NOTE 11 INCOME TAXES

The income tax expense (benefit) consists of the following:

	2010		2009		2008	
Current:						
Federal	\$	192	\$	(700)	\$	304
Foreign		111		-		-
State and local		640		(116)		950
		943		(816)		1,254
Deferred:						
Federal	\$	1,185	\$	(6,415)	\$	6,036
Foreign		-		-		-
State and local		375		(1,493)		615
		1,560		(7,908)		6,651
Total	\$	2,503	\$	(8,724)	\$	7,905

Consolidated pretax income (loss) is comprised of the following sources:

	2	010	2009	2008
U.S. pretax income (loss)	\$	4,036	\$ (20,876)	\$ 14,958
Non-U.S. pretax income (loss)		1,110	(245)	(222)
Total	\$	5,146	\$ (21,121)	\$ 14,736

The significant components of the deferred tax expense (benefit) consist of the following:

	2010		2009		2008
Depreciation	\$	(2,271)	\$	(2,332)	\$ (3,399)
Goodwill and intangible assets		1,608		1,486	1,643
Restructuring		1,459		(652)	(1,318)
Pension		6,867		182	437
Net operating loss carryforward		(7,220)		(8,118)	6,452
Federal tax credit		71		725	(245)
Compensation and benefits		1,054		426	1,564
Accounts and notes receivable		(240)		786	50
Retiree healthcare benefits		1,870		1,983	1,396

Capital loss carryforward	177	(962)	-
Other	(1,815)	(1,432)	71
Total	\$ 1,560	\$ (7,908)	\$ 6,651

The Worker, Homeownership, and Business Assistance Act of 2009 allowed the carry back of certain federal net operating losses for up to five years. Under this Act, this year we recovered \$625 of alternative minimum tax paid in 2007 and 2008. There are no other recoverable taxes within the five year carryback period.

The components of the current net deferred tax asset and long-term net deferred tax asset consist of the following:

	January 2, 2011			January 3, 2010		
Deferred tax asset:						
Allowance for doubtful accounts	\$	1,038	\$	959		
Inventories		758		1,274		
Compensation and benefits		5,863		6,921		
Other		4,332		5,287		
Total current tax asset		11,991		14,441		
Less: valuation allowance		-		(16)		
Net current asset	\$	11,991	\$	14,425		
Deferred tax asset (liability):						
Depreciation	\$	(6,127)	\$	(8,398)		
Notes receivable		296		135		
Goodwill and intangible assets		3,484		5,092		
Pension		56,566		65,999		
Retiree healthcare benefits		9,622		11,492		
Capital loss carryforwards		14,997		15,174		
Net operating loss carryforward		31,042		23,822		
Federal tax credit		1,584		1,655		
Other		5,566		4,183		
Total long-term tax asset		117,030		119,154		
Less: valuation allowance		(14,034)		(14,463)		
Net long-term asset	\$	102,996	\$	104,691		
Net deferred tax asset	\$	114,987	\$	119,116		

We review the potential future tax benefits of all deferred tax assets on an ongoing basis. Our review includes consideration of historical and projected future operating results, reversals of existing deferred tax liabilities, tax planning strategies, and the eligible carryforward period of each deferred tax asset to determine whether a valuation allowance is appropriate.

At January 2, 2011, the Company has unused U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of \$80,316 and \$43,096, respectively, generally expiring from 2023 through 2030. In addition, we have a U.S. capital loss carryforward of \$2,425 that expires in 2014. Based on the weight of available evidence, including the potential sources of taxable income previously mentioned, we have concluded that it is more likely than not that these losses will be utilized. As such, we have not recorded a valuation allowance for the tax benefit of these losses. We also have a Canadian capital loss carryforward of \$80,194 that has an indefinite carryforward period. A full valuation allowance has been provided for the tax benefit associated with this capital loss as it is more likely than not that this capital loss will not be utilized. A U.S. capital loss carryforward of \$447 for which the deferred tax asset was fully reserved expired in 2010. During 2010, our Mexican operations became profitable and fully utilized its NOL carryforward.

We previously recorded a full reserve for these carryforwards; therefore, the usage of the loss carryforward reduced foreign income tax expense during 2010.

Although realization is not assured, management believes it is more likely than not that all of the remaining deferred tax assets will be realized. The amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be reduced in the near term if estimates of future taxable income are reduced.

The reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective tax rate follows:

	2010	2009	2008
Statutory federal income tax rate	35.0 %	35.0 %	35.0 %
State and local income taxes	7.5	4.7	4.7
Change in cash surrender value	(3.3)	2.7	12.0
Meals and entertainment	3.3	(0.9)	1.6
Increase in unrecognized tax benefits	3.7	-	-
Adjustment to prior year tax accruals	5.6	(0.3)	1.8
Foreign statutory rate differential	(5.4)	(0.4)	0.5
Permanent and other items	2.3	0.5	(2.0)
Effective tax rate	48.7 %	41.3 %	53.6 %

State tax expense increased in 2010 due to state tax liabilities derived from a tax base other than net income.

The Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. federal, various state, and Mexican jurisdictions. With few exceptions, based on expiration of statutes of limitation, the Company is no longer subject to federal income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2006 or state, local, or non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2001. Utilization of net operating and capital loss carryforwards generated from 2003 to 2010 could subject those losses to review by tax authorities beyond the expiration of the normal statute of limitation.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

	2	2010	2	009	20	008
Balance at January 4, 2010	\$	1,755	\$	1,755	\$	1,755
Additions for tax positions of prior years		157		-		-
Balance at January 2, 2011	\$	1.912	\$	1.755	\$	1.755

These unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would favorably affect the effective income tax rate of a future period or periods. We do not anticipate any material change in the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits to occur within the next twelve months.

Our continuing policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in tax expense. The amount of interest and penalty expense recorded in 2010, 2009, and 2008 was not material.

Income taxes have not been provided on undistributed earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries as the Company considers such earnings to be permanently reinvested outside of the United States. The additional U.S. income tax that would arise on repatriation of the remaining undistributed earnings could be offset, in part, by foreign tax credits on repatriation. However, it is impractical to estimate the amount of net income and withholding tax that might be payable.

NOTE 12 CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Company has two classes of capital stock issued and outstanding, Common and Class A. These are equal in all respects except voting rights and restrictions on ownership of Class A stock. Each share of Common outstanding has one vote, while each outstanding share of Class A is entitled to five votes. Class A stock is convertible into Common stock on a share-for-share basis at which time ownership restrictions are eliminated.

NOTE 13 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The number of shares outstanding for calculation of earnings per share (EPS) is as follows:

(Shares in thousands)	2010	2009	2008
Weighted-average shares outstanding - basic	28,917	28,836	28,759
Effect of potentially dilutive securities	27	-	15
Weighted-average shares outstanding - diluted	28,944	28,836	28,774

The effects of stock options and nonvested shares on diluted EPS are reflected through the application of the treasury stock method. Due to the net loss from continuing operations incurred in 2009, no outstanding options or nonvested shares were included in the diluted EPS computation because they would automatically result in anti-dilution. Outstanding options to purchase 2,830,645 and 2,080,368 shares were not included in the computation of diluted EPS for 2010 and 2008 because the exercise price of the options was greater than the average market price of the shares at the end of the period; therefore, the effect would be anti-dilutive.

NOTE 14 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

We have one plan under which share-based awards may currently be granted. The 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated in 2009 (2002 Plan), provides for the granting of a maximum of 3,500,000 shares. The 2002 Plan permits the grant of incentive or nonqualified stock options, restricted stock grants, and stock appreciation rights. A committee of the Board of Directors (Committee) administers the 2002 Plan. The Committee has the authority to determine the employees to whom awards will be made, the amount of the awards, and the other terms and conditions of the awards. Non-employee directors are also eligible to receive stock awards under the 2002 Plan.

Outstanding stock options granted under the 2002 Plan have a contractual term of ten years and the exercise price per share is equal to the fair market value on the grant date. The options vest over periods determined when granted, generally four years, and are exercisable until the term expires.

Under the 2002 Plan, shares subject to restricted stock award may be issued when the award is granted or at a later date. The stock awards are subject to terms determined by the Committee, have voting rights, and may include specified performance objectives. However, the sale or transfer of these shares is restricted during the vesting period. Recipients of restricted stock awards prior to April 23, 2009 had the right to receive dividends during the vesting period. Recipients of restricted stock awards after April 23, 2009 do not receive dividends during the vesting period. Dividends are placed in escrow and paid only if the shares vest.

Total share-based compensation expense by type of award is as follows:

	2010		2009		2008	
Stock awards, service-based	\$	444	\$	458	\$	293
Stock awards, performance-based		430		38		245
Stock options		1,017		973		447
Total share-based compensation expense		1,891		1,469		985
Tax effect on share-based compensation expense		751		583		391
Net share based compensation expense	\$	1,140	\$	886	\$	594
Stock Options						

The weighted-average fair value of stock options granted in 2010, 2009, and 2008, was estimated at \$2.75, \$1.91, and \$1.57 per share using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on the following assumptions:

Risk-Free Interest Rate: We base the risk-free interest rate on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equivalent to the expected term of the options being valued.

Dividend Yield: We calculate the expected dividend yield based on our projection of future stock prices and dividends expected to be paid. The range of expected dividends used was \$0.05 to \$0.10 per share.

Expected Term: The expected term represents the period of time that our stock options are expected to be outstanding and is based on our historic exercise behavior.

Expected Volatility: We calculate the expected volatility factor based on the Company s historical stock prices for a period of time equal to the expected term of the award.

The weighted-average of significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of options granted is as follows:

	2010	2009	2008
Risk-free interest rate	1.9%	1.6%	2.8%
Dividend yield	3.7%	4.8%	9.7%
Expected term	4 years	4 years	4 years
Expected volatility	75.7%	66.9%	42.5%

A summary of our stock option activity and related information for 2010 is as follows:

	Number	Wei	ighted-
	of Shares		erage
			rise Price
Outstanding at January 3, 2010	2,286,141	\$	11.06
Granted	752,080		5.94
Exercised	-		-
Forfeited/Canceled	(220,571)		13.00
Outstanding at January 2, 2011	2,817,650	\$	9.54
Exercisable at January 2, 2011	1,255,503	\$	14.08

As of January 2, 2011, there was a total of \$1,975 of share-based compensation related to stock options that will be amortized to expense over a weighted-average remaining service period of 1.4 years.

Following is a summary of the status of stock options outstanding at January 2, 2011, which are fully vested or are expected to ultimately vest. The share amounts presented below have been reduced to reflect estimated forfeitures.

0	ptions Outstanding				Options Exercisable				
	Weighted-	Weighte	ed-		Weighted-	We	eighted-		
Number	Average	Averag	ge Aggregate	Number	Average	\boldsymbol{A}	verage	Aggreg	gate
of	Remaining	Exercis	se Intrinsic	of	Remaining	E.	xercise	Intrin	sic
Shares	Contractual Life	Price	Value	Shares	Contractual Life		Price	Valu	ıe
2,630,578	7 years	\$ 9.	.82 \$	1,255,503	5 years	\$	14.08	\$	-

Service-Based Stock Awards

We have awarded nonvested stock to employees and directors that vest based on service requirements. The fair value of the service-based stock awards is based on the closing market price of our common stock on the date of award. Expense is amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, generally four years, and is based on the number of awards ultimately expected to vest and therefore has been reduced for estimated forfeitures. The weighted-average grant date fair value of service-based nonvested stock issued in 2010, 2009, and 2008 was \$4.34, \$5.22, and \$9.49 per share. The total fair value of stock that vested during 2010, 2009, and 2008 was \$253, \$169, and \$188. As of January 2, 2011, there was a total of \$745 of share-based compensation related to service-based nonvested stock that will be amortized to expense over a weighted-average remaining service period of 1.5 years.

A summary of our service-based stock award activity and related information for 2010 is as follows:

	Weighted-
Number	Average
of	Grant Date

Edgar Filing: STANDARD REGISTER CO - Form 10-K

N	Shares	Fai	r Value
Nonvested at January 3, 2010	140,906	\$	7.85
Granted	104,825		4.34
Vested	(47,069)		9.25
Forfeited/Canceled	(106)		12.76
Nonvested at January 2, 2011	198,556	\$	5.66

Performance-Based Stock Awards

The fair value of performance-based stock awards is based on the closing market price of our common stock on the date of award. Performance-based stock awards vest only upon the achievement of specific measurable performance criteria, and for 2010 awards, continued employment for two additional years. We recognize compensation expense for awards subject to performance criteria when it is probable that the performance goal will be achieved. Expense for performance-based awards with graded vesting is recognized under the accelerated recognition method, whereby each vesting is treated as a separate award with expense for each vesting recognized ratably over the requisite service period.

For shares issued in 2010, the performance goals allowed partial vesting if a minimum level of performance was attained in 2010. Based on the level of performance achieved, 163,574 shares were earned, and the remaining shares were forfeited and cancelled in March 2011. The shares earned will vest as follows: 25% in March 2011, 25% in March 2012, and 50% in March 2013. These shares have voting rights and accrue dividends during the performance period which will be paid if the shares vest. As of January 2, 2011, there was a total of \$522 of share-based compensation related to performance-based nonvested stock that will be amortized to expense over a remaining service period of 2.2 years.

During 2010, we cancelled all remaining shares of performance-based stock awarded in 2008 due to the performance goal not being attained. We did not recognize any expense in 2009 or 2008 for these awards.

A summary of our performance-based stock award activity and related information for 2010 is as follows:

		Wei	ghted-	
	Number	Av	erage	
	of	Grai	nt Date	
	Shares	Fair Value		
Nonvested at January 3, 2010	190,183	\$	9.48	
Granted	240,550		5.82	
Vested	-		-	
Forfeited/Canceled	(190,183)		9.48	
Nonvested at January 2, 2011	240,550	\$	5.82	

NOTE 15 PENSION PLANS

We have a qualified defined benefit plan covering certain of our U.S. employees that is no longer available to new participants. We consider the funded status of the plan, required plan contributions, income tax deductibility, and cash flow in our funding decisions. Pension plan assets are invested in a broadly-diversified portfolio consisting primarily of publicly-traded common stocks and fixed income securities.

The benefit amount for certain participants (primarily those hired after December 31, 1999) is frozen and these participants no longer earn any additional benefit credits; however, their lump sum earns 4% interest annually until termination of employment with the Company. In 2008, we modified the qualified defined benefit plan and the non-qualified supplementary benefit plan discussed below for participants that were still accruing benefits under the plans. As a result, these participants also ceased accruing pension benefits and final pension benefit amounts will be based on pay and service through June 29, 2008.

Our non-qualified benefit plan provides supplemental pension payments in excess of qualified plan payments including payments in excess of limits imposed by federal tax law. The plan covers certain officers and key employees. Our funding policy is to contribute amounts to the plan equal to the benefit payments required for each year.

We have an additional supplemental non-qualified retirement plan for executive officers which provides retirement benefits based on years of credited service as an executive officer in excess of five years. The plan is no longer available to new participants and benefits have been frozen. We also have separate supplemental retirement

agreements that provide retirement benefits to two former officers. Our funding policy is to contribute amounts to these plans equal to the benefit payments required for each year.

The following tables set forth the reconciliation of the benefit obligation, plan assets, and the funded status for all of our pension plans:

Change in Benefit Obligation	2010			2009		
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$	438,358	\$	466,371		
Service cost		-		126		
Interest cost		24,398		25,777		
Settlement gain		(655)		(22,909)		
Actuarial loss (gain)		16,874		(7,972)		
Benefits paid		(26,770)		(23,035)		
Benefit obligation at end of year	\$	452,205	\$	438,358		

Change in Plan Assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year	\$ 234,198	\$ 227,961
Actual return on plan assets	31,573	33,493
Employer contributions	26,819	26,806
Settlements	(933)	(31,027)
Benefits paid	(26,770)	(23,035)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year	\$ 264,887	\$ 234,198
Funded status at end of year	\$ (187,318)	\$ (204,160)

As a result of employees retiring and electing a lump-sum payment of their pension benefits under our non-qualified plan in 2010 and our qualified, non-qualified, and supplemental executive retirement plans in 2009, we recognized pension settlements in 2010 and 2009. A pension settlement is recorded when the total lump sum payments for a year exceed total service and interest costs to be recognized for that year. The impact of the settlements on the projected benefit obligation and plan assets is shown in the table above. As part of the settlements, we recognized a pro-rata portion of the unrecognized net losses included in accumulated other comprehensive losses equal to the percentage reduction in the pension benefit obligation. These non-cash charges are included in net periodic benefit cost.

The net actuarial loss for 2010 includes a loss from a decrease in the discount rate from 5.8% to 5.0% and a gain from a change in the actuarial assumption used for the valuation of lump sum payments from a single interest rate to the expected forward rate at the time of distribution.

Amounts Recognized in Balance Sheet		2010	2009		
Accrued pension liability - current	\$	(2,144)	\$	(2,014)	
Accrued pension liability - long-term		(185,174)		(202,146)	
Total	\$	(187,318)	\$	(204,160)	
Amounts Recognized in Accumulated Other Compre	hensive Losses	Before Tax			
Net actuarial loss	\$	255,976	\$	263,586	
Prior service cost		-		593	
Total	\$	255,976	\$	264,179	

The amount of net actuarial loss that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive losses into net periodic benefit cost during 2011 is \$23,910.

The projected benefit obligation equaled the accumulated benefit obligation of all our pension plans at the end of 2010 and 2009. All of our pension plans have benefit obligations in excess of plan assets.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost and Other

Amounts Recognized in Other Comprehensive Losses

Net Periodic Benefit Cost	2010		2010 2009		2008		
Service cost of benefits earned	\$	-	\$	126	\$	3,388	
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation		24,398		25,777		28,083	
Expected return on plan assets		(25,853)		(25,568)		(29,410)	
Amortization of prior service cost		593		593		486	
Curtailment gain		-		-		(746)	
Settlement loss		370		20,412		-	
Amortization of net actuarial loss from prior years		18,672		14,598		20,014	
Total net periodic pension cost	\$	18,180	\$	35,938	\$	21,815	

Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations

Recognized in Other Comprehensive Losses Before Tax	2010	2009
Net actuarial loss (gain)	\$ 11,153	\$ (15,897)
Net actuarial loss recognized	(18,764)	(26,893)
Prior service credit recognized	(593)	(592)
Total recognized in other comprehensive losses	(8,204)	(43,382)
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost		
and other comprehensive losses	\$ 9,976	\$ (7,444)

Weighted-average Assumptions

Projected benefit obligation	2010	2009	2008
Discount rate	5.00%	5.80%	5.75%
Future compensation increase rate			
- current year	-	-	3.50%
- subsequent years	-	-	3.50%
Net periodic benefit cost			
Discount rate	5.80%	5.75/7.0% (1)	5.75%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets	8.75%	8.75%	8.75%

(1) The discount rate was 5.75% through March 1, 2009 and 7.0% April through December 2009 due to settlements that occurred on March 1, 2009. As a result, pension expense was adjusted to reflect the updated discount rate at that time.

Asset allocation studies form the basis for the development of the overall long-term rate of return assumptions and are based on the long-term historical returns of each asset class in which we invest our pension assets. The expected long-term rate of return assumptions reflect the expected return forecast of each major asset class, the allocation weighting of each asset class included in the target mix, and the correlations among the asset classes and their volatilities. The long-term expected return forecasts reflect the current yield on U.S. government bonds and risk premiums for each asset class. Differences between actual and expected returns are recognized in the net periodic pension calculation over five years using a five-year market-related asset value method of amortization.

Discount rates are established based on prevailing market rates for high-quality, fixed-income instruments with maturities equal to the future cash flows to pay the benefit obligation when due. Our pension plan assets have historically been invested predominantly in equity investments, which have typically realized annual returns at or above the expected long-term rate of return.

The benefits expected to be paid in each of the next five fiscal years, and in the aggregate for the five fiscal years thereafter are as follows:

2011	\$ 32,431
2012	35,963
2013	33,306
2014	34,231
2015	34,075
2016-2020	177,545

Plan Assets

Our long-term investment policy objectives with respect to the qualified defined benefit plan assets have been to achieve funding of the plan at a level consistent with the Plan s accumulated benefit obligation and to achieve an annual investment return target equal to the greater of 8.75% or 3% over inflation over a 10-year period. The target asset allocation percentages for equity investments range from a minimum of 60% to a maximum total equity position of 80% with the target being 70%. Total fixed income percentages range from a minimum of 15% to a maximum of 30% with a target percentage of 20%. Equity real estate and infrastructure percentages range from a minimum of 0% to a maximum of 20% with a target of 10%.

It is our policy to diversify the investment of the plan s assets to reduce the risk of large losses. Progress toward achieving performance objectives is reviewed quarterly by management with particular attention directed to reviewing performance relative to the risks. It is expected that the plan s assets will perform in the top 40% of plans with similar risk over a three- to five-year market cycle as measured by an appropriate peer group. Performance of the pension funds, individual investment managers, actuarial assumptions, and other attributes of the pension plan are reviewed at least annually with the Company s Board of Directors. The long-term rate of return on plan assets we expect to use to determine fiscal 2011 net periodic pension cost is 8.0%, due to changes we plan to make in the asset mix allocation to minimize our risks and variability in asset gains and losses.

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 became effective in 2008 and increases the minimum funding requirements for our qualified pension plan. We expect to contribute \$25,000 to \$30,000 in 2011.

The fair values of our qualified defined benefit pension plan assets by asset category at January 2, 2011 and January 3, 2010 are shown in the table below.

January 2, 2011						January 3, 2010					
Asset Category	Total	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Total	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 7	\$ 7	\$ -	\$ -	\$ 8,283	\$ 8,283	\$ -	\$ -			
Equity securities											
Commingled equity funds	50,647	-	50,647	-	28,113	-	28,113	-			
Media and technology	31,520	31,520	-	-	32,625	32,625	-	-			
Consumer products and services	22,194	22,194	-	-	23,311	23,311	-	-			
Business products and services	18,169	18,169	-	-	20,795	20,795	-	-			
Healthcare	14,112	14,112	-	-	17,099	17,099	-	-			
Energy and utilities	19,974	19,974	-	-	16,659	16,659	-	-			
Banking and financial services	16,848	16,848	-	-	15,719	15,719	-	-			
Other	19,093	19,093	-	-	6,299	6,299	-	-			
Fixed income securities											
Commingled fixed income funds	25,047	-	-	25,047	20,124	-	-	20,124			
Mortgage-back securities	9,907	-	9,907	-	8,273	-	8,273	-			
Corporate bonds	6,250	-	6,250	-	6,200	-	6,200	-			
Municipal bonds	1,772	-	1,772	-	1,559	-	1,559	-			
U.S. Treasury securities	2,375	2,375	-	-	1,864	1,864	-	-			
Private placements	975	-	975	-	767	-	767	-			
Other	2,632	-	2,632	-	2,801	-	2,801	-			
Private equity funds	8,983	-	-	8,983	9,097	-	-	9,097			
Real estate	14,382	-	-	14,382	14,610	-	-	14,610			
Total	\$264,887	\$144,292	\$ 72,183	\$ 48,412	\$234,198	\$142,654	\$ 47,713	\$ 43,831			

The classification of fair value measurements within the hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the measurement. Inputs and valuation methodologies used for material categories of pension plan

assets are as follows:

Equity securities and Fixed Income U.S. Treasury Securities

Common stock and U.S. Treasury notes and treasury inflation indexed securities (TIPS) are traded in open markets where quoted prices are determinable and available. The investments are valued by independent pricing vendors using a market approach based on prices obtained from the primary exchange on which they are traded. In the absence of a primary market, a secondary market price is used.

Corporate Bonds, Municipal Bonds and Mortgage-backed securities

Individual fixed income securities are valued using a market approach based on observable market inputs. Inputs used to value corporate and municipal bonds include dealer quotes, trading levels, bid prices and spreads, and benchmark curves. Mortgage-backed securities are valued based on the present value of expected future cash flows. Directly observable market inputs include interest rates and yield curves at commonly quoted intervals, volatilities, prepayment speeds, default rates, and credit spreads.

61

Commingled equity and fixed income funds

Commingled funds are valued at the fair value of the ownership interests in the funds. The Net Asset Value (NAV) per unit is the primary input into the valuation. The NAV is based on the fair value of the underlying assets owned by the fund, minus its liabilities, divided by the number of shares outstanding. The fair value of equity securities held by the funds is generally based on observable prices or inputs based on quotes in active markets. Fixed income securities held by the funds may be valued based on an evaluated bid valuation method. Inputs to the valuation include interest rates on coupons, maturities, ratings, and cash flow projections. Additionally, bid-side quotations from independent pricing services or broker-dealers may also be used to determine the fair value of fixed income securities.

Private Equity and Real Estate

Our private equity and real estate funds are valued on a NAV per unit based on the underlying investments of the funds. Our private equity funds typically include direct investments in infrastructure assets, partnership interests, or other interests in infrastructure-related assets. The primary valuation methodology for the underlying assets is a discounted cash flow analysis based on unobservable inputs. Key inputs include estimates of operating income and discount rates. Additionally, discounted cash flow valuations are validated using appropriate transaction and trading multiples, where available.

Underlying assets of our real estate funds primarily consist of investment properties valued by independent appraisals as there are no observable markets for these investments. Key inputs include revenue and expense growth rates, terminal capitalization rates, and discount rates.

The following table summarizes the changes in plan assets measured at fair value using level 3 inputs. Realized and unrealized gains and losses in plan assets are reported in other comprehensive income.

			Pr	ivate				
	Commingled		Equity					
		Fixed Income Funds		Funds		Real Estate		Гotal
Beginning balance at January 3, 2010	\$	20,124	\$	9,097	\$	14,610	\$	43,831
Actual return on plan assets								
Assets still held at January 2, 2011		2,148		(148)		2,240		4,240
Assets sold during the period		340		(28)		(451)		(139)
Purchases, sales, and settlements		2,435		62		(2,017)		480
Transfers in and/or out of level 3		-		-		-		-
Ending balance at January 2, 2011	\$	25,047	\$	8,983	\$	14,382	\$	48,412

There were no significant transfers between level 1 and level 2 of the fair value hierarchy during the year ended January 2, 2011.

Defined Contribution Plans

We sponsor a 401(k) savings plan in which substantially all of the employees are eligible to participate. Late in 2009, we reduced the Company match for all employees from 75% to 50%. Expense recorded for employer matching contributions under this plan totaled \$3,307, \$5,611, and \$5,400 in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively.

We also have a supplemental executive retirement plan for officers designed to supplement benefits available under our

401(k) savings plan. Participant accounts are credited annually with 15% of their annual compensation, which includes base salary and annual cash incentive awards, and with an investment return which currently is 6%. Expense recorded for this plan totaled \$281, \$213, and \$187 in 2010, 2009, and 2008.

NOTE 16 POSTRETIREMENT HEALTHCARE BENEFITS

In addition to providing pension benefits, we provide certain healthcare benefits for eligible retired employees. The plan s cost sharing provisions previously were amended to adjust retiree premiums for 2009 and beyond. In 2010, the plan was subsequently amended to further reduce the monthly per person caps for 2010 and beyond which reduced our benefit obligation by \$2,465.

Because our healthcare costs for future years are effectively capped at current levels, healthcare cost trend assumptions are no longer applicable and we do not expect changes in future healthcare cost trend rates to have a material effect on our postretirement benefit obligation or net benefit cost. We also do not expect the recently enacted Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and associated Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act to have a material effect on our postretirement benefit obligation or net benefit cost.

4,242

(18,379)

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the benefit obligation and the funded status for this plan.

Change in Benefit Obligation	2010	2009	
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 8,819	\$ 9,592	
Interest cost	385	485	
Amendments	(2,465)	-	
Actuarial loss	95	116	
Net benefits paid	(982)	(1,374)	
Benefit obligation at end of year	\$ 5,852	\$ 8,819	
Plan Assets	-	-	
Funded status	\$ (5,852)	\$ (8,819)	
Amounts Recognized in Balance Sheet			
Accrued postretirement liability - current	\$ (921)	\$ (1,394)	
Accrued postretirement liability - long-term	(4,931)	(7,425)	
Total amount recognized	\$ (5,852)	\$ (8,819)	
	 D C 71		
Amounts Recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehe	· ·		(2.1.7.1)
Prior service credit	\$ (22,621)	\$	(24,754)

The amount of prior service credit and actuarial loss that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive losses into net periodic postretirement benefit cost during 2011 is \$(4,905) and \$456, respectively.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost and Other Amounts Recognized in Other Comprehensive Losses

Net actuarial loss

Total

Net Postretirement Benefit Cost	20	010	200) 9	2008
Interest cost	\$	385	\$	485	\$ 1,105
Amortization of prior service credits		(4,598)		(4,598)	(3,537)
Amortization of net actuarial losses		487		494	496
Total postretirement benefit cost	\$	(3,726)	\$	(3,619)	\$ (1,936)

Other Changes in Benefit Obligation Recognized in Other Comprehensive Losses Before Tax

Net actuarial loss \$	95	116	
-----------------------	----	-----	--

4,634

(20,120)

Edgar Filing: STANDARD REGISTER CO - Form 10-K

Prior service credit	(2,465)	-
Prior service credit recognized	4,598	4,598
Net actuarial loss recognized	(487)	(494)
Total recognized in other comprehensive losses	\$ 1,741	\$ 4,220
Total recognized in net postretirement benefit cost		
and other comprehensive losses	\$ (1,985)	\$ 601

Weighted-average Assumptions

Benefit obligation	2010	2009	2008
Discount rate	4.00%	4.75%	5.50%
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed			
for current year	-	-	7.00%
Net periodic benefit cost			
Discount rate	4.75%	5.50%	5.75%
Healthcare cost trend rate assumed for current year	-	-	8.00%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to			
decline (the ultimate trend rate)	-	-	4.75%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate	-	-	2014

The accumulated benefit obligation was determined using the unit credit method and discount rates that are based on management s evaluation of available information about rates implicit in current prices of annuity contracts, as well as rates of return on high-quality fixed-income investments that could be used to effect settlement of the obligations.

The funding policy is to pay claims as they occur. The projected net benefits expected to be paid in each of the next five fiscal years, and in the aggregate for the five fiscal years thereafter, are as follows:

2011	\$ 939
2012	841
2013	762
2014	678
2015	590
2016-2020	2,035

NOTE 17 SEGMENT REPORTING

We operate the following three business units, which are organized based upon their customer base and the primary markets they serve: Healthcare, Commercial, and Industrial. Each of these business units represents an operating segment except for Commercial which is comprised of two operating segments: Financial Services and Commercial Markets. Each of our operating segments represents a reportable segment.

Under our current operating model, the majority of our manufacturing, printing, warehousing, and distribution functions are managed under a shared-services model and are therefore not specific to a particular reportable segment. Each business unit is supported by our shared services group comprised of manufacturing, supply chain, and client satisfaction, as well as finance, technology, and other corporate functions. The profitability measure we use to assess segment performance is segment operating income before restructuring and impairment, and excludes items listed in the following reconciliation that are not allocated to segment operating income.

Production costs for our manufacturing and supply chain shared services functions are accumulated on a customer basis and reported in the applicable business unit s cost of sales. Our business units incur a portion of SG&A directly. Each business unit also receives an allocation of SG&A expense as follows:

•

Each business unit has its own sales regions. Selling expense incurred by each sales region is allocated to other business units based on the percentage of revenue generated for the other business unit. We use an activity-based method to allocate expense associated with our client satisfaction function to business units.

•

Finance, technology, and other corporate general and administrative expenses are allocated based on the business unit s actual revenue as a percentage of actual consolidated revenue.

ullet

General and administrative expense of our remaining shared services is allocated based on a percentage of actual revenue.

64

As a result of our shared-services model, our business units do not have separately identified assets and depreciation expense is part of the allocations. Asset information is not provided as part of the business unit s discrete financial information. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1. No single customer provided more than 10% of the Company s consolidated revenue in any of the years presented.

A description of our reportable segments is described below:

Healthcare -- The Healthcare segment s primary customers include acute care hospitals, integrated delivery networks, long-term care providers, and managed care organizations. Products and services provided include: documents such as administrative and clinical forms, wristbands and labels, marketing solutions, secure prescriptions, patient communications, and patient information solutions.

Financial Services The Financial Services segment serves the document management needs of retail banks, insurance carriers, credit agencies, security dealers, insurance agents or brokers, and holding companies. Products and services provided include documents such as specialized print, marketing solutions, customer communications, and digital print solutions.

Commercial Markets -- The Commercial Markets segment serves the business-to-business or commercial market, focusing primarily on large diverse retailers, state governments, overnight delivery carriers, business service providers, and wholesale companies. Products and services provided include documents such as specialized print, marketing solutions, labels, customer communication solutions, and digital print solutions.

Industrial The Industrial segment primarily provides printed production parts to the industrial manufacturing market. Printed production parts are all of the labels and technical literature which go on a manufactured product or are shipped with a product. Products and services provided include functional and decorative labels, in-mold labeling and decorating and printed technical literature and other documents.

Information about our operations by reportable segment is as follows:

		He	althcare	nancial ervices	 nmercial Iarkets	Inc	lustrial	2	Total
Revenue from external	2010	\$	250,963	\$ 175,677	\$ 165,888	\$	75,849	\$	668,377
customers	2009		265,850	193,203	170,107		64,856		694,016
	2008		284,824	224,789	201,530		79,933		791,076
Operating income (loss)	2010	\$	19,575	\$ 7,361	\$ (4,011)	\$	239	\$	23,164
from continuing	2009		22,553	7,914	(3,981)		(1,304)		25,182
operations	2008		25,639	9,030	3,269		2,572		40,510
Depreciation and	2010	\$	8,390	\$ 5,980	\$ 6,063	\$	2,822	\$	23,255
amortization	2009		9,121	7,169	6,429		2,325		25,044
	2008		9,062	7,867	6,993		2,621		26,543

Reconciling information between reportable segments and our consolidated financial statements is as follows:

	2010	2009	2008
Total consolidated revenues	\$ 668,377	\$ 694,016	\$ 791,076
Operating income	\$ 23,164	\$ 25,182	\$ 40,510
Restructuring and asset impairment	(1,733)	(12,689)	(5,785)
Environmental remediation	803	(2,513)	(827)
Amortization of net pension actuarial	(18,672)	(14,598)	(20,014)
losses			
Pension settlement loss	(370)	(20,412)	-
Other unallocated pension	1,455	(209)	2,073
Unallocated corporate	(752)	4	808
LIFO adjustment	3,773	4,921	(94)
Total other expense, primarily interest	(2,522)	(807)	(1,935)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes	\$ 5,146	\$ (21,121)	\$ 14,736

Our operations are conducted primarily in the United States. Revenue and long-lived assets for our operations in Mexico are not material. Revenue by the products and services we provide is as follows:

	2010			2009		2008	
Traditional print	\$	335,948	\$	363,004	\$	418,116	
Digital print on demand		142,303		141,443		160,050	
Labels		119,707		116,338		129,567	
Distribution services		18,405		17,085		17,723	
Technology services		19,914		21,983		28,861	
Other products and services		32,100		34,163		36,759	
Total consolidated revenue	\$	668,377	\$	694,016	\$	791,076	

NOTE 18 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We do not have any purchase agreements with suppliers extending beyond normal quantity requirements or significant purchase commitments for capital improvements at January 2, 2011.

We lease sales offices, warehouses, print facilities, and equipment under operating leases, none of which are considered individually significant. Annual expenses under these leases were \$13,778 in 2010, \$14,672 in 2009, and \$16,122 in 2008. Future minimum payments under existing noncancelable leases at January 2, 2011 are as follows:

Edgar Filing: STANDARD REGISTER CO - Form 10-K

2011	\$ 11,032
2012	9,403
2013	7,577
2014	4,514
2015	3,108
Later years	495
Total	\$ 36,129

Contingencies

We have outstanding letters of credit as of January 2, 2011 totaling \$6,031, primarily as a requirement of our workers compensation insurance. All letters of credit are renewable annually.

We outsource certain information technology and telecommunication services from suppliers under agreements that expire during 2011 and 2012. At January 2, 2011, the early termination penalties total approximately \$10,971.

In the opinion of management, no litigation or claims are pending against the Company that will have a material effect on its financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. The Company is subject to laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment and is party to environmental actions that have arisen in the ordinary course of business. We provide for expenses associated with environmental remediation obligations when such amounts are probable and can be reasonably estimated. The amount of liability recorded is based on an evaluation of currently available facts and is reviewed periodically. Actual expenses incurred in future periods may vary from current estimates, given the inherent uncertainties in estimating the extent of necessary remediation efforts.

The Company has participated with other Potentially Responsible Parties (PRPs) in the investigation, study, and remediation of the Pasco Sanitary Landfill Superfund Site (the Pasco Site) in eastern Washington State since 1998. The Company was a member of a PRP Group known as the Industrial Waste Area Generators Group II (the IWAG Group). In 2000, the IWAG Group and several other PRP groups entered into agreed orders with the Department of Ecology for implementation of interim remedial actions and expansion of groundwater monitoring. In September 2010, the group entered into a new agreement creating the IWAG Group III. The new agreement changed the allocation of responsibility among the members, which resulted in a significant decrease in our level of participation. Based upon new investigations, it was also deemed probable that participation by certain other PRPs would increase for costs expected to be incurred after 2010. These developments resulted in a decrease of approximately \$1,251 in the estimate of our costs related to the remediation of the site. At this time, an agreement has not yet been reached on the final remediation approach. We have accrued our best estimate of our obligation and have an undiscounted liability of \$1,101 that we currently believe is adequate to cover our portion of the total future potential costs of remediation. We expect the costs to be incurred over a period of 60 years; however, the current proposed remediation approach could require monitoring for a longer period of time. This estimate is contingent upon the final remedy agreed upon, the participation of other PRPs, the length of monitoring required, and the final agreed upon allocation. Until a final remediation approach is approved and a final agreement is reached among all PRPs, it is reasonably possible that one or more of these factors could change our estimate; however, we are unable to determine the impact at this time.

From 1995 through 2003, the Company participated with other PRPs in the investigation, study, and remediation of the Valleycrest Landfill Site (the Valleycrest Site) in western Ohio. The Company is a member of a PRP Group known as the Valleycrest Landfill Site Group (the VLSG). In 2003, General Motors Corporation (GM) stepped into the Company s position under the Site Participation Agreement and, in return for \$270, agreed to indemnify the Company against certain future liability in connection with the Valleycrest Landfill Site. Therefore, we did not previously record a liability for potential remediation costs. In 2009, we were notified that in connection with GM s bankruptcy filing, GM does not plan to continue contributions to the site, including its contractual obligation to indemnify the Company for future liability. We believe that it is probable the Company will participate in remediation actions. A remedial investigation and feasibility study was conducted by the VLSG which indicated a range of viable remedial approaches. During 2010, we obtained an updated estimate of costs for possible final remedies. At this early stage, a final remediation approach has not been selected, and we have accrued the estimate of our obligation based on the most likely approach. In addition, we have also determined that GM will likely not be required to fund their originally allocated portion of the environmental costs. However, we believe it is probable that we will be able to recover a portion of these costs through bankruptcy settlements. As a result of these developments, our estimate of costs increased by approximately \$475. We have an undiscounted long-term liability of \$2,393 that we currently believe is adequate to cover our portion of the total future potential costs of remediation, which are expected to be incurred over a period of 30 years. This estimate is contingent upon the final remedy agreed upon, the participation of other PRPs not currently in the VLSG, and the final agreed upon allocation. Until a final remediation approach is approved and a final agreement is reached among all PRPs, it is reasonably possible that one or more of these factors could change our estimate; however, we are unable to determine the impact at this time.

In addition, we have undiscounted reserves totaling \$329 for environmental remediation at one previously owned facility. Our remediation costs for this facility is partially covered by our insurance provider, and we have recorded a receivable of \$103 for the portion of these costs we expect to recover.

NOTE 19 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company has evaluated for disclosure all subsequent events through the date the financial statements were issued and filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

67

Item 9 CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

Item 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Controls Evaluation

We conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures over financial reporting (Disclosure Controls) as of January 2, 2011. The evaluation was carried out under the supervision, and with the participation, of our management including our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO).

Definition of Disclosure Controls

Disclosure Controls are controls and procedures designed to reasonably assure that information required to be disclosed in our Securities Exchange Act reports, such as this Form 10-K, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission s (SEC) rules and forms. Disclosure Controls are also designed to reasonably assure that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our quarterly evaluation of Disclosure Controls includes an evaluation of some components of our internal control over financial reporting, and internal control over financial reporting is also separately evaluated on an annual basis for purposes of providing the management report included on page 35.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls

Our Company s management, including the CEO and CFO, does not expect that our Disclosure Controls will prevent or detect all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system s objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

Scope of Evaluation

Our evaluation of Disclosure Controls included a review of their objectives, design, and effectiveness, including their effect on the information generated for use in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This evaluation is performed on a quarterly basis so that the conclusions of management, including the CEO and CFO, concerning the effectiveness of our Disclosure Controls can be reported upon in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Conclusion

Based on that evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that, subject to the limitations noted above, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our Disclosure Controls were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC and that material information relating to The Standard Register Company is made known to management, including the CEO and CFO, particularly during the period when our periodic reports are being prepared.

Changes in Internal Control

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, there have been no material changes to our internal controls or in other factors that could materially affect these controls and no corrective actions have been taken with regard to material weaknesses in such controls.

Item	0R	OTHER	R INFORMA	TION
Hem	ЭD	OIDER		

No	one.
111	m.

PART III

Item 10 DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 28, 2011.

Item 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to that part of the information under Executive Compensation of our Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 28, 2011.

Item 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to Owners of More than 5% of the Common and Class A Stock of Standard Register and Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers of our Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 28, 2011.

The following table summarizes information as of January 2, 2011 regarding our 1995 Incentive Stock Option Plan and our 2002 Equity Incentive Plan under which our equity securities have been authorized for issuance:

Plan Category	Number of securities Weighted-average		Number of securities	
	to be issued upon	exercise price of	remaining available for	
	exercise of	outstanding	future issuance under	
	outstanding options,	options, warrants	equity compensation	
	warrants and rights	and rights	plans	
Equity compensation plans				
approved by shareholders	2,817,650	\$ 9.54	297,022	

Item 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 28, 2011.

Item 14 FEES AND SERVICES OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 28, 2011.

PART IV

Item 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)

Documents filed as part of this report.

1.

Financial statements

The following consolidated financial statements of The Standard Register Company and subsidiaries are included at Item 8 herein:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheet January 2, 2011 and January 3, 2010

Consolidated Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income Years ended January 2, 2011, January 3, 2010, and December 28, 2008.

Consolidated Statement of Shareholders Equity Years ended January 2, 2011, January 3, 2010, and December 28, 2008.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Years ended January 2, 2011, January 3, 2010, and December 28, 2008.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2

No other financial statement schedules are included because they are not applicable or because the required information is shown in the financial statements or in the notes thereto.

3.

Exhibits

The exhibits as listed on the accompanying index to exhibits are filed as part of this

Form 10-K.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, The Standard Register Company has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on February 24, 2011.

THE STAND	ARD	REGISTER	COMPANY

R. E. McCarthey.

THE STILL PINE RESISTENCE OF MAIN (1	
By: <u>/S/_JOSEPH P. MORGAN, JR.</u>	
Joseph P. Morgan, Jr.	
President and Chief Executive Officer and Di	irector
-	Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the Register Company and in the capacities indicated on February 24, 2011:
<u>Signatures</u>	<u>Title</u>
/S/ F. D. Clarke, III F. D. Clarke, III	Chairman of the Board and Director
/S/ R. M. Ginnan	Vice President, Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer
R. M. Ginnan	
	ney, which are being filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has ey-in-fact for the following directors of the Registrant:
D. P. Bailis	J.P. Morgan, Jr.
R. W. Begley, Jr	J. J. Schiff, Jr
M. E. Kohlsdorf	J.O. Sherman, II

/S/ F. D. Clarke, III

F. D. Clarke, III

71

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

- 3.1 Amended Articles of Incorporation of the Company and Code of Regulations. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to the Company's Registration Statement No. 333-8687.
- 3.2 Certificate of Amendment by the Shareholders to the Amended Articles of Incorporation of The Standard Register Company. Incorporated by reference to Form 10-K for year ended December 31, 1995.

INSTRUMENTS DEFINING THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS, INCLUDING INDENTURES

4.1 The Loan and Security Agreement between Standard Register and the following banking institutions: Banc of America Securities, LLC, KeyBank National Association, Bank of America, N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., PNC Bank National Association, Wachovia Capital Finance Corporation (New England), incorporated by reference to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 4, 2010.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

- 10.1 The Standard Register Company Non-Qualified Retirement Plan, revised December 11, 2008, effective June 29, 2008, incorporated by reference from Form 10-K for the period ended December 28, 2008.
- 10.2 The Standard Register Company Officers' Supplemental Non-Qualified Retirement Plan, restated October 26, 2006, effective January 1, 2007, incorporated by reference from Form 10-K for the period ended December 30, 2007.
- 10.3 First Amendment to The Standard Register Company Officers' Supplemental Non-Qualified Retirement Plan, dated December 11, 2008, effective January 1, 2008, incorporated by reference from Form 10-K for the period ended December 28, 2008.
- 10.4 The Standard Register Company Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, dated December 12, 2006, effective January 1, 2007, incorporated by reference from Form 10-K for the period ended December 30, 2007.
- 10.5 First Amendment to The Standard Register Company Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, dated December 11, 2008, effective January 1, 2008, incorporated by reference from Form 10-K for the period ended December 28, 2008.
- 10.6 The Standard Register Company 1995 Incentive Stock Option Plan, incorporated by reference from the Company s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on April 17, 1996.

- 10.7 The Standard Register Company Management Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to the Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held April 16, 1997.
- 10.8 First Amendment to The Standard Register Company Management Incentive Compensation Plan incorporated by reference from the Company s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on April 17, 2002.
- 10.9 The Standard Register Dividend Reinvestment and Common Stock Purchase Plan, incorporated by reference from Registration Statement No. 333-05321.
- 10.10 The Standard Register Company 2002 Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference from the Company s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on April 17, 2002.

72

- 10.11 The Standard Register Company Amended and Restated 2002 Equity Incentive Plan incorporated by reference from the Company s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders held on April 23, 2009.
- 10.12 Asset Purchase Agreement between Exped LLC and The Standard Register Company, dated April 21, 2007, incorporated by reference from Form 8-K filed April 26, 2007.
- 10.13 The Standard Register Company 2005 Deferred Compensation Plan, revised November 2, 2006, effective January 1, 2007, incorporated by reference from Form 10-K for the period ended December 30, 2007.

COMPUTATION OF PER SHARE EARNINGS

11 Computation of per share earnings is included in Item 8 herein.

CODE OF ETHICS

The Standard Register Company Code of Ethics incorporated by reference from Form 10-K for the year ended December 28, 2003.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Subsidiaries of the Registrant, incorporated by reference to Form 10-K for the period ended December 28, 2008.

CONSENTS OF EXPERTS AND COUNSEL

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Power of Attorney of David P. Bailis, R. W. Begley, Jr., Michael E. Kohlsdorf, R. Eric McCarthey, J. J. Schiff, Jr., and J. Q. Sherman, II.

CERTIFICATIONS

- 31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
- 31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certifications pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

73

EXHIBIT 24

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints F. D. Clarke, III, and J. P. Morgan, Jr., and each of them, jointly and severally, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with full power of substitution, and each with power to act alone, to sign and execute on behalf of the undersigned the Annual Report on Form 10-K, and any amendments thereto, of The Standard Register Company for the year ended January 2, 2011, and to perform any acts necessary to be done in order to file such report with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and each of the undersigned does hereby ratify and confirm all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or their or his substitutes, shall do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

<u>Signature</u>	<u>Title</u>	<u>Date</u>
/S/ F.D. Clarke, III F. D. Clarke, III	Chairman of the Board and Director	February 24, 2011
/S/ J. P. Morgan, Jr. J. P. Morgan, Jr.	President, Chief Executive Officer and Director	February 24, 2011
/S/ R. M. Ginnan R. M. Ginnan	Vice President, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer	February 24, 2011
/S/ D. P. Bailis D. P. Bailis	Director	February 24, 2011
/S/ R. W. Begley, Jr. R. W. Begley, Jr.	Director	February 24, 2011
/S/ M. E. Kohlsdorf M. E. Kohlsdorf	Director	February 24, 2011
/S/ R. E. McCarthey R. Eric McCarthey	Director	February 24, 2011
/S/ J. J. Schiff, Jr.	Director	February 24, 2011

J. J. Schiff, Jr.

/S/ J. Q. Sherman, II Director February 24, 2011

J. Q. Sherman, II